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Years Fnded September .30

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

amounts in thousands except for p.r share data

Results of Operations

Sales $1285203 1194189 01665/ 881 135 8898/0

Cost of sales 977965 941994 805516 /09481 727M0

Selhng general and administrative expenses
154962 120848 ill 828 98613 94 07

Interest expense
1461 1155 2031 2145 3403

Income taxes 32569 35285 29554 20385 13662

Net income altnbutable to Ci bk 8476$ /0636 55686 36854 41 86

Average number of shores outstanding 26736 2o73a 26131 26125 26120

Per Share Data

Netuncame 3.17 2.64 208 1.38 1.56

Cashdlvudends 0.21 018 0.18 018 .18

Yearknd Datt

Shareholders equity uelated to Cubic 552051 488322 420845 388852 382171

Iquitypershae
20.65 18.27 1574 14.55 .33

atal assets 958840 864409 /56315 641252 592565

Longtermdebt 15918 20494 2a124 31145 38331

Solos Price of Common Shares Drildends pet Share

hscal2Oll Fusc.a12010 FIscal2Oll Eusca 2010

Quartet Hugh Low High Low

iit 49.74 40.25 38.95$ 33.1/

Second 57.75 45.81 4201 3242 0.19 0.09

Th 57.45 47.63 39.52 33.66

Fourth 52.89 37.41 41.80 35.99 0.09 0.09
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In 2011 ubic began its 60th
year

of

operation Sales totaled $1285 billion an

percent increase from 2010 making it

the companys best
year ever Net inc

increased 20 percent to $84 million or

$3 1/per shore in 2011 cnd we ended

the year with total backlog of $2 billion

set ing new record higf for us in each of

these metrics

Our aperat rg performance drew media

attention Aviation Week and Space

Technology recognized Cubic as he

Number One performing corripany in the

$1 $5 billion annual sales
cateqary at the

Paris Air Show We so drew the attention

of CNBC when
it was reported that we were

the only publicly traded company listed an

stock exchanges to receive perfect

Potioski are The otraski score is based

or rescaict by renowr University of hicago finance

professor who developed sco mg system
far findir

financia
ly strong cnid well managed cornpai mes It

was very gratifying to receive recognition that Cubics

growth and fnancial performance was considered

best ri class arr angst our pe rs and amongst the large

spectrum of publicly traded companies

Across our three business segments we have st ong

pipeline vice arid system so utiors Our solutions

position us to meet our custonre changing acquisition

pr critics and grow ng needs for efficiency and value

Our bjsinesses are prepared for the challenges and

oppoitunitmes ahead

Cc bic Transportation Systems the worlds leading

avider of automated faie
payment and fare

collection services for he transpartation industry

Our
ticinispoi

tatoni segments busines model

cf aiac terized by system design deve oprnent

ntegraton arid installation followed by full
range

of services spanning from patron si peort to operating

back office systems

The public isportation ma kets we si rye are

ndei
going tram sformatvc change Mounting pressure

on transit authorities to stretch hei operating budgets

is ueling trend toward outsc urced se vices and open

payment ems that accept Ml csr mic dii cards hic

at he foreti ont sf this change

Today we piovide ra rge of seivices or tncsnmt

author ties 15 rgion won dwidc Oui er ices

include eveiythirg ham patron call
support rurin ng

back office lfonrlation system Servces have beer

growng part of ui transportation seg nent over the
pc

several years and now sales in this egioc nit are nearly

equal between rvices and systems

The clevelopmen and integna ion of software and

hardware solutions far open payment systo

prior ty for us We are mcsdci
nizinig

fare payment

echr elegies for ransit eec pliance witfi the fine nc icil

ndust standa for contactless opei poyme it

This year in sartnership with the Port Author
ty

Tiansit

Corporation PA1CO Ic unc led the first or sit

branded i.e itac less Vi
pi paid card tP wcsnld

is now accopted on the train no between South rn

New rsey and Philadelphia

for the London 2012 Olympi Cames um ntactCss

payrrien solutic will be widely deployed onboard the

massive onclon hers fleet transport riders the capitol

ty will be able to use their credit oi debit cards in the

sunre way the Oyster card Ultimately we will be

providing simi an capability he United States ureps

and Australc Mobile phone payne it app1 cation

are ar other advanced fare payment mcdi we are

incorporating ntis transit We are work
rig

with market

leade izcsbile phones to deliver apabili foi all

smart phone users

Ihis ye ar we laurched our vision forth futun of

transport Nextcily Based csn acir proven end wide

deplcsyed back office systems Nex
city wi be an

information end management system for forms of

transport We are excited about the petc ic valu it

tics tci help mpnove all forms sf ban mobmlm for trans

suthoi ities arid travelers

By captuni ig sigr
ific ant long ti mm contracts

ansportatio segment is hui ding st any fu ure farly

in the year liansLink he Oreater Vancoc ser trans

authorty awarded us $220 millioi TO car sniai

card end faregato cor tract It is he hird Ic res initial

tr anspontatio co ltract in acir history and fourth

cantract for complete design ild operafe nail air

envic es follciwin London isban and Sydimey

We reached anotfier milestore after th end of the fec al

year err we were seiec by rhe nicaqo Transit

Authe ity for the hiccga Open Standard Systenm



Contract The contract has an estimated value of $454 million aver

12 years making it the largest automated fare coMection contrat

ever placed in North America

Cubic Defon.e Systems is building upon its role as the leader in

and graund combat training systems worldwide Our produOs

and systems help our customers to retain tec hnological supenority

We design innovate manufacture and fie diverse range of

tchnolagies that are ciitical to cembar readinss supply chnn

logistics and national secuiity for the U.S aid allied nations

Steady improvements across our deferse systems business ore

elding measurable financial and operational results

Shifting prior tes and
pressure

to reduce the DoD budget are

iallenging the defense industry We beliew our divere

business hose and international footprint provide us with the

flexibility to sustain our coie business areas and competitively purse

opporturities
for long term growth

Our established international footprint in 33 nations is key

ingredient in our strategy ir global footprint helps to insulate

us from shifts or downturns in DoD spending This
year

in emotional wins in the United Kingdom Australia and the Middle

Fast represe
ited about 50 percent of our new orders giving us

diversity to offset the anticipated slowdown in the U.S

Expanding into ad1acent markets gives us an effective means to add

scale to our busness while minimizing operational risk Las year we

moved into the air test and evaluation market to supplement our co

combat training business As result we are participating in the

common Range Integrated Information System CR115 and have

extended our skill set to new market

To retain leadership positions in all of ir core markets we must

provide product innovations that deliver real value to our customers

To help our new or next-generation solutions gain tiaction in

the market we participate in and sponsor proof-of principle

demonstrations This enables our customers to taKe our technology

for test rur it
also gives ifrem confidence that we have woi king

solctian

Recently our solutan foi combat identification was sub1ectcd to

gorous testing dui ing Bold Quest 2011 held at Camp Atterbui

Indiana The performance of oir DCID TALON an acronyri

for Dismoun ad Combat ID with Target Locaton Navigat on

exceeded expectations duiiig assessments by and Coalition

forces Providing viable solution for friendly fire has been one

of my long term goals for Cubic Its gratifying for me to sec our

progiess in this area Our technology can save lives and it is greatly

needed to help protect our nalions military from potentially fatal

cide its



ubic obal hacking Solutions was formed from

two acquisitions we made ast year Now we are at

emerging coder asset visibi
ity

solutons Today

defense agencies and cemme cial businesses require

smarter technologies to effectively track and manage

thrir cargo and assets on global basis

We supply asset visibility solutions for mihtary and

commercial supply chain loqist cs Spocifically that

means ontainer tracking yard mar ager ierit and

shipment manitarinq This
year we conducted many

highly successful demonstrations several have led to

orders Our proof ofprinciple for the United States

Transportat or Command RANSCOM is an example

It led to the sxpansion of our mesh ted nology in Kuwait

Now our yard management system is being used for the

tracking of military vehicles as they are being prepped

and ieadir for redeployment from Iraq as the U.S

draws down
it

forces

One of the key areas in the cyber domain is cross

domain solutioii ths ability to shore data or ross

multiple levels of security By employing the ter hn cal

expertise and assets we acquired last
year we have

developed high speed cross don am transfer solution

This year it was validated for use by the Unified Cross

Domain Management Office Now we have the

creden ials to pursue opportunities with die DoD and

intelligence commui
ity organizations

With ielentless focus on customer satisfaction we

achieve near perfect record of en time delivery and

frequently are able deliver early This has been and

will continue to he key prietity far us Oui performance

on current contracts helps us to
gainn new work This

year

we won several key contracts

ir the first tims we won competitive contract to supply

our ground combat training system to the Marine

Coips Tfiis sytcm will be used in Marine force on force

and force on target training exercises ncluding indoor

orid outdoor Milirary Oparations on Urban Teriarn

MOU training at multiple locations in the and

abroad By expanding our customer base we gain
the

opportunity to offer broad range of our products to

support training requirements far Marines

This year we were awarded recampete Indefin to

Delivery/Indefinite Quantity ID/IQ contract worth up

to $200 million from the Army for Instrumerrtable

Multiple Integrated Laser Engagement System Individual

Weapons System MILES IWS By demonstrating

outstanding operational performance and reliability

on ocr irrent ny onti we were chr as ths

or ti actor of choice to supply systems for next

years

On inter iational fiort we war $4 millior

contract to pyr ado the itish Army Sal sE uiy

ground conibat tra ning range
Af ci tO and th

fisr
year we wan the largest virtual simu atia syterT

ever awarded us by allied nation in the Middls

East Ultimately the rontract rould be wai up to $120

mill mnclud nr optio is

Miss an Support Servirts is firmly rs abE hed as

leading provider of coriprehensiv support service

for defense and sec
urity

forces in the nd allied

nations We are highly specialized and istor net

centric business arid knowing how to meet he uniq me

requineme it of each of ou rriany rust mers is niti ally

important to our success In the govt me it vices

marOtpI ire rep uta quatity Ic Fip
are always sipor ant We up iold ou credentials far

aft sional excellence by consists
ntly providing ii

gfi

yr lue and caste fective sripport for orir tomers

iwr en tr tjy
We ci ad ting to new era in defense niarities We

belirve the combination of outstanding pc iOrmance

increased ha cal capabilities and stroannlmr mg our

ganization are giving is ths strs ngth to iris am our

urrei markets and competitively enter new es

In our ervices markets tfie DaD now relies heavily an

lD/lQ and small business set aside contracts Foi us

that nears an mm rease ir bid or pa
al spending

howoss false provides us with appr it tics to

ncrei se our market sfiare in $250 luau annual

Dc ser vir es market INs yea ws sti eamlined

ai consolidated our proposal organ atian to help us

efficir
ntly

id ef ectively pursue ID/lO opporturi ties

and
partne

with small husmnes Os

To rn nximmze our husr ess ap ortuimitie cm Mr 10/10

cantri ct vehicles we have retained the flexmb
ty to

seek is wa it both as inc aid subcar trot tar

By mat teasing our pam tcmpotia tin multiple award ID/

IQ ccntracC we mprove our Fares to devr
op

iew customers pragiarns and apbiI tics Re 0mm
mg

custo zers is ri ical omponent of our success

we remain
gi

ant in mamnta ring higfm win rite

rerampcte contracts to rctain our cu tomers

Incrtasirg of athistmca ian ai ha iintoni

Techn alogy IT support crosses our ant no utani



base We have been building and acgurring technical

capabdit es related to IT Our full service If support

contract at tfe Jo nt Multinational Training Center ri

Grafenwóhr Ocr many and ast years acquisitio of

Abraxos mulhply our ability to expand our customer

base This experience also posihons us to compete and

win new programs as knowledgeab provider of IT

nd cybei services

We provide wide span of logistics trainuig and

suppo Sues to the Arrricd Forces When

troops withdraw from their operations in Afghan an

we anticipats temporary
shift from training and

rcidiness to relocation and recovery Given our logistics

credentials we are we11 positioned for this cyclic

change U.S Armed Force will be returning to new

locations as result of Base Realignment and Clesure

BRAC decisions Our presence at Fort Lee Virginia

and Fort Benning Georgia position us to support

requirements associated with relocating and refittng the

key Con ra tAwa ds

Outstanding past performance enabled us to wn

recompetes for several of our principal orrtracts

The U.S Army Combined Arms Cente CAC at Fort

Leavenworth is one of them Cubic has been mainstay

at lort Leavenworth and is the only major contractor to

successfully retain position on every omnibus contract

awarded for the past 20
years

This year we race vcd

new multiple award ID/IQ contract to provide military

training and education support to the U.S Armys CAC

We are one of 10 companies eligible to compete for up

to $260 rrrillion in task orders over five
years

With our prime seat on the $900 million ID/b Fielded

Training Systems SLipport Services Ill TSS III we

wIl have the opportunity to aid for numerous task

orders to support training simulators for the U.S Navy

nd Marine Corps or for other governments ider

potenticrl Fore
igrr Mrlitary Sales

After the end of our fiscal
year we were one of several

companies chose for multiple award ID/IQ contract

for support services at the Army Maneuver Center

of Excellence MCoE at Fort Benning Georgia he

five year contract has potc ntial value of $458 million

Our 2008 acqursrtion of Omega Tra ring Group

provided the credentials we needed for this important

contract

omputer and handson training support to the

Army Sustainment Center of Excellence jSCOE

Quartermaster School and the Army Logistics

University

oreIi and DC elopmCr
The level of our ideperrdent research and development

lRDl spending for the corporation ranges
from to

oercent of sales In 2011 we were the high end of

the range In 2012 as our cyber arid asset tracking

Ousrneses reduce RD spending and focus on attaining

profitability we expect more normalized RD spending

Key investments we made in RD during 2011 are

producing immediate results Our asset tracking

business participated in several proof.of principle

demonstrations that have led to production orders

Also by upgrading our cross domain technology we

now have more competitive and validated product

for use by the U.S DoD and intelligence conrmunrty

organizations We also invested iii mobile ticketing and

open payment sy tems for use in the transit environment

end focused on advancing electrooptical technologies

for our defense systems business

ookgngah ad
onsrstent with our 60year heritage we will continue

to manage the conrpany for long term performance We

have industrydeading techrrobogy market leadership

service excellence diversified product portfolio and

strong balance sheet

am optimistic about Cubics future and am confdent

that we will build
upon our strengtfrs for continued

success would like to thank my management tea for

their dedication and accomplishments that contr buted

to another year
of

progress
for the company Our

success would not he possible without support from

our customers suppliers sharefrolders and directors

would Ike to extend my appreciation to all of them

/q
Walton Zahle

Chairmai 0f the Board

President and Chief Executive Officer

Logistics continues to be an important market for us

This
year we reinforced our leadership position arid

will continue the company current field classroom
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oily 70 bilhi id taken each year using our automated fore collection systems We

nufa ure supply install integrate and support fare payment technologies

on ffic rnputer syste us essential for all modes of public transit

nsit auth oh ok to us for innovative solutio is that make fare payment more convenient

nd lh nt ryan

Translink to design build operate and

mbia smart card and faregate systems This

contr includ 10 ar of rv with an option for additional years

uthodty CTA to provide an Open Standards

will in liver operate and maintain the agencys next generation

paym nts em th will accept nk cards and ultimately mobile phone payments the

ar contr an timated vol of $454 million

rtf don buses to

2012 Summer

Ultimat ly th ftwar grade will roll outt th ntir Oyster smart card

making London th fii aty in tie woi Id to convert its entir pubhc transport network to

pt
contactless paym nt ards

Launched open payment pilot for Port Authority Transit Corporation PATCO
As part

of this yeaclong pilot we deployed the first ever transit branded contactless prepaid

card in the world PATCO Wave Pay ANYWHERE Visa

Ill Recognized for bringing Oyster onto the National Rail network in London

Cubic Transport for London lfL and the Association of Train Operating Companies were

awarded Excellence in Technology and Innovation at the London Transport
Awards Cubic

developed the necessary technologies including the design and implementation of extensive

new systems software architecture to enable the Oyster extension

_w_
Los Ar ele Son ego Mrar Mode so Ito Sweden

TAP Compass rrd Posy Cord



In todays complex transit errvironmor it tak cal wo Id experience

understa id and mitigate peifoirnance risk and integra ion challenges

associated with these new form of Jyment Transit age ies wo Idwide

know and trust ow credentials

We diaw on ow wealth of
experience to modernizr faie payrcert ihe

recent nt oduct or of our poyments solution is key examp it

ncludes new software ond hoidware that provdes tronsit authori ies with the

capobility accept Fare poyment by contactless bank caids and Near Field

Communication NFC enabled mobile phonE directly at the pa nt of trc vel

That means all
passengers banked unbanked have choice of

rising

credit cards debit cards prepaid cards and any other oritaCless payment

media at fare payment dev in he transit systE

Supporting interoperabihty and meeting industry standards is high priority

For us That is why oui open payments solulion meets the Financial indjstrys

standard br contactles open payment and approved by Europay

MasterCc rd Visa EMV Amencan Express Disc over MasterCad ard Visa

fran it agencies wo Idwide are nte ested in open payi errt as way to

reduce the cc sts associated with managir their own faie medic it also

makos fare payment more convenient for riders For Frurisport for ondon

we are adding rontactless bank cards as payment option to the massive

London bus fleet In the US Cubi and PAl CO have partered to provide

El ilodelphia/New Jersey region commuters with the worlds first transit

branded contactleos Visa eropoid cord This is the Irst time that onsumnc rs

will be able to use the same tiansit payment card for both tra sit rind retail

purc
hoses

Feature rich mobile devices are both
exciting

arrd challenging Fe rrass

adoption irr publ transportation We are working with marke loaders

mobile phones to advai cc then use as Fare payment dcvvos in tFe

Europe Australia and the







Faced with urban congestion Emited space far new nfrastructure and

budget pressures todays transport agen es must find innovative ways to

meet grwing demand or mckility Those haUnges require prven sk

and the right exper toe We have earned the credenticils

At Cubic we special to in solving complex integration challenges unique

to transport agencies For many years Cubic has beer keeping the world

of public transport on the move with integrated automated fare collection

systems

Our systems provide critically important data that operators need analyze

manage and opti mze travel Each day in rtres and regions
such as London

Brisbane and the San Fiancisco Bay Area operators rely on ridership

data from our cyrtems to be tei align the demand and supolv of capacity

for mult agerrcy and intermodal ourneys
this type of data enabled London

to plan for peak travel acros multiple modes of public transportduring the

Royal Wedding and will again wlren the city hosts the 2012 Olympics

Cubcs automated fare collection xpertise is the driving force behind the

next evolution transport innovation lh year we unveiled our vsion for the

future of mobility Nextcity complete mobility payments and rrrformatron

platform Nextc
ity

wl enable operators to better plan for the optimal use

of existing transport capacity from aD modes of public and private

transport without the need to replace any existing infrastructure

Our Nextcity plat orrs will provide the dynamic data transport planners

and providers need to understand predet manage and influence all forms

of mobility Likewise travelers will be able to stay informed about their

choice of public and/or private transport by real time interactive information

Nextcity is our vis on for making travel more predictabe and reliabe

for everyone Its arrother example of iow were helping agencies redu

urban congestion and improve mob lity
for better future



The tech cal omploxity of running powerful back offic.c systems combined with

thc pressure to reduce opeiating costs is challe ginq transport agencie We

are proving that it takes nd istry experience to offer and deiver
unique

and compellng value pioposition

Our dua experience in syste irs desigr and services is hov we direct antributr

ta the operational success and business goals of transit agencies around

the world We help them improve opeiational perfoimance reduce costs and

improve the travel experience When it comes to complex hack of ice systems

we know how to design develop nstall and deploy them Wand keep tf em

running at peak perfoirrarica At .ubic performance is our pedge That

why we deliver the highest standard of system availability in the ndustry

We believe responsive ervice is local Providing oui custo icrs choice nd

best value we deliver global expertise arid solutions bc ally for us that

means local centralized 24/7 helpdesk and service center operaticr in

North America Europe and Austrlasia Whether our customers choose to hove

supply individual serv es oi run an entire fare collect on systerr we ave the

depth of management and
engineering experience to meet their ncds

Best practices shared by our woildwide operations keep us lean and

efficient In Brisbane Australia our full spectrum of services includes cntral

ticketing systems and network operations and regional dearing and

setflement also creakd webs te tht alOws Luctomer to raanae

their own smart cards In London our predictive information technology

systems help to detect issues and avert downtime givir us more ime to

analyze and improve the system In an Francisco we deliver the full ange of

opeiationa services foi the ipperM reg onal smart card system ultimately

md id ng 27 operators At Cubic oui servces offer homce and best value in

point to point travel for everyonc





The eading provider of realistic highfidelity air and ground

combat training systems worldwide
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We design deve/op manufacture supply and integrate

products and systems used in training communications logistics and real world environments

Our products and systems are in use in iiore than 35 nations

Allied military and security
forces rely on Cubic for technical innovations that maximize the

effectiveness of their mission

Won new indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity ID/b contract valued up to

$49 mllion for U.S Marine Corps ground combat training range Cubic will provide an

advanced InstrumentedTacticoI Engagement Smulation System 111 TESS II for use in Marine forceon

force and force on target training exercises including Military Operations on Urban terrain MOUT

Received $49 million bD/lQ contract from U.S Army to support its Surveillance and

Control Data Link SCDL Cubics am resistant data link provides secure all weather link for Joint

STARS encrypted ground to air and air to ground communications SCDL has been used extensively by

the US Air Force dur
rig

conflicts in th Persian Gulf War Bosnia Iraq and Afghanistan

Won $40 million contract to upgrade the British Armys Salisbury Plain ground combat

training range As an incumbent supplier Cubic will provide new equipment and systems to enhance

troop
readiness and predeployment training during forceomforce combat training exercises

Received $36 million in task orders to date from the U.S Army for our Tactical Vehicle

System TVS These task orders are the start of full rate production
under fivyear 10/10 contract

we received in 2010 which has ceiling value of $100 million TYS is the wireless vehicular version of

our laser based training system

Received $26 million followon contract to supply components for the Javelin Field

Tactical Trainer We will supply classroom trainer and student and instructor stations to train troops in

field surveillance target recognition and acquisition and fire mission control on the Javelin system

Received $19 million order by U.S Army to provide next generation baser

engagement training systems for soldiers The fiveyear InstrumentableMultiple Integrated

Loser Engagement System
Individual Weapons System IMILES IWS contract could be worth $200

million

Jew Zealand Singapore Thailand



To provide real value virtual training must enable soldiers to acquiic
skill

that are transferrable and relevant to the live training envii onmc ni and real

world missions Our systems are proven to advance the rn rksmanship skills of

soldiers

loday cur Engagement Skills irainer 2000 EST 2000 plays key ro in

the Armys marksrranship training strategy it iso preioquisite to livc

qualification fho precise training and performance fecdback soldiers receive

from our 2000 enables many of them to qualify before they step onto

live fire range using real weapons

The fielding and development our ESI 2000 and our entire Fanily virtual

training tems is ongoing Our systems are in use by ten national militaries

and security forces at home statios and in combat ones

We adapt EST 2000 for specific customer requirements Whethei ou

customers need multiple languagc Inc orporated into user interfoces or

modifications for specific types
of weaponry or scenarios we can meet their

needs

Currently we are designing product rmprovcmc nts for the Aimy National

Guard The new version of ES 00 will accommodate loader rmor gun

shields Ihe shields help to protect gun loaders from small aims niper threats

and fragment from lED while operating in an open hatch fighting position

onboaid the Ml Abrarns The loaders gun shield siakes Ml tarks baiter

suit foi urban operations

At Cubic we integrate technologies to extend the
utility

arid effectrvenirss of

virtual training ystem that augment live training and real world missions for

and allied ground forces
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Skilled people dedicated to their 1obs-that is why we are trusted provider of missioncritical

support services

Key Accomplishments

Won prime award on the U.S Army Operations Planning Training and

Resource Support Services OPTARSS II contract managed by the U.S Forces

Command FORSCOM Cubic is one of 13 awardees to receive prime seat on this

indefinite dehvery/indefinite quantity 0/10 contract which has five year term and ceiling

value of $2 billion Our
strong capabilities in operations training

and exercises and leader

development will enable us to compete for the many opportunities
under this contract

Awarded one of eight ID/IQ multiple award contracts for Fielded Training

Systems Support Services FTSS The aggregate ceiling value is $900 million over

seven years Under this contract more than 900 training simulators will be supported for the

U.S Navy and Marine Corps and for other governments under potential Foreign Military Sales

Recently we received two contract awards totaling $34 million

Received an D/lQ contract for the U.S Army Maneuver Center of ExceVence

MCoE at Fort Benning Georgia Cubic is one of 14 awardees for this contract which

has one base year and four option years
and potential value of $458 million We provide

this program with full spectrum of
support in leader development doctrine training capability

development and training support products for the maneuver force

Received new fiveyear contract to provide military training and education

support to the u.S Armys Combined Arms Center CAC at Fort Leavenworth

Kansas Cubic is one of ten companies to win the five year CAC Omnibus Contract which

hoc maximum value of $260 million Cubic is the only malor contractor to successfully retain

position on every omnibus contract awarded on behalf of the CAC for the
past 20 years

Awarded $18.8 million U.S Army Contract for functional and analytical

support to the Sustainment Battle Lab The support Cubic piovides to this program will

assist the Armys combat development process
in variety of venues by providing analytical

rigor to develop quantifiable data so the Army can make informed decisions and see positive

return on their investment
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Quo termaster Center and School tI Sustainment Center of Lxellence
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Iroining Center in Fort Polk Louisiana
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Before their skills are validated by live training

aircrews train on simulators Cubic Mission

Support Services helps aircrews maximize the full

capabilities of simulators to acquire test and hone

skills they need to be mission ready

Our extensive experience gained from supporting U.S Navy and Marine

Corps simulators spans more than 20 years Whether they seek simulator

flight instruction classroom instruction maintenance services curriculum

development and/or contractor logistics support our customers know we can

meet their needs We draw upon on our wealth of experience to provide our

customers with high quality responsive support every day

We are known for our skilled people dedicated to their jobs When it

comes to simulator instruction we have unmatched credentials Many of our

instructors are regarded as Subject Matter Experts on fixed and rotary

wing aircraft Thats key reason why military customers know and trust our

reputation Recently 12 of our V-22 Osprey flight instructors at the Marine

Aviation Training Systems site in New River North Carolina reached an

impressive milestone 100000 combined flight hours or more than 8000

hours apiece Their achievements significantly exceed the 3500 average

total hours flown by career military pilot

Our simulator instructors are highly motivated and qualified They transfer

their knowledge to trainees in the form of objective feedback in pre- and post-

mission debriefs The feedback enables trainees to improve and master pilot

skills and techniques As result trainees are challenged to meet essential

training and readiness tasks While they are in the cockpit of simulators we

test and grade their performance in scenarios such as flight training for F/A-

18 fighter jets in-flight refueling for the KC-1 30 and air-to-ground weapons

execution practice for the AV-8B Harrier Our primary focus is on training

them to achieve readiness as individuals in combat unit

Over many years we have earned record of outstanding performance in

supporting simulators used by the Naval Air Force U.S Atlantic Fleet and

the U.S Marine Corps Today they rely on us when they need instruction

simulator operation and curriculum support
for

any
tactical aircraft they fly

Simulator Support Services Cubic supports and maintains U.S Marine

Corps AV-8B Harrier training assets ranging from flight simulators and

maintenance trainers to computer-based training equipment



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

Our primary businesses are in the defense and transportation industries For the year ended September 30 2011 68% of sales were derived

from defense systems and services while 32% were derived from transportation fare collection systems and other commercial operations These

include high technology businesses that design manufacture and integrate complex systems and provide essential services to meet the needs

of various federal and regional government agencies in the U.S and other nations around the world The U.S Government remains our largest

customer accounting for approximately 56% of sales in 2011 compared to 57% in 2010 and 58% in 2009

Cubic Transportation Systems CTS develops and delivers innovative fare collection
systems

for public transit authorities worldwide We

provide hardware software and multiagency multimodal transportation integration technologies as well as full
scope

of operational services

that allow the agencies to efficiently collect fares manage their operations reduce fare evasion and make using public transit more convenient

and attractive option for commuters

Cubic Defense Systems CDS is focused on two primary lines of business Training Systems and Communications The segment is diversified

supplier of live and virtual military training systems and communication systems and products to the U.S Department of Defense other U.S

government agencies and allied nations We design instrumented range systems for fighter aircraft armored vehicles and infantry force-on-force

live training weapons effects simulations laser-based tactical and communication systems and precision gunnery solutions Our communications

products are aimed at intelligence surveillance and search and rescue markets In 2010 through two acquisitions we added new product lines

including multi-band communication tracking devices and cross domain hardware solutions to address multi-level security requirements

Mission Support Services MSS is leading provider of highly specialized support services to the U.S Government and allied nations Services

provided include live virtual and constructive training real-world mission rehearsal exercises professional military education intelligence

support information technology information assurance and related cyber support development of military doctrine consequence management

infrastructure protection and force protection as well as support to field operations force deployment and redeployment and logistics

CONSOLIDATED OVERVIEW

Sales increased 8% in fiscal 2011 after increasing 17% in 2010 due to growth in all three business segments in both years Sales grew to

$1285 billion in 2011 compared to $1194 billion in 2010 and $1017 billion in 2009 Approximately half of our growth in 2011 was organic

and half of our growth was the result of our acquisition of Abraxas in December 2010 which added $50.0 million to our 2011 revenue

Our sales would have increased by 3% without the addition of Abraxas and sales in our MSS segment would have declined 4% absent this

acquisition The average exchange rates between the prevailing currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S Dollar resulted in an increase

in sales of $21.5 million for the year

More than 80% of the growth in 2010 was organic while the remainder came from the consolidation of TranSys variable interest entity VIE
and from two small acquisitions we made during 2010 The VIE added $29.9 million to 2010 sales however these sales had no net margin and

therefore had no effect on operating income Sales growth in 2010 without consolidation of the VIE would have been approximately 15% See

the segment discussions following for further information about segment sales

Operating income increased 6% to $112.3 million in 2011 compared to $105.5 million last year Improved margins and higher sales in our

defense systems segment contributed significantly to the increase in our operating income Operating income growth in 2011 was limited

somewhat by an increase in our investments in two businesses acquired in 2010 that are developing cross domain and global asset tracking

products The operating losses for these two businesses totaled $11.3 million in 2011 compared to $3.0 million in 2010 Abraxas incurred an

operating loss of $3.5 million for 2011 which included amortization of intangible assets of $8.2 million for the
year as well as acquisition costs

of $0.7 million $4.2 million gain was recorded in 2010 related to the recovery of receivable that had been reserved for in previous years

which positively impacted our 2010 operating income as described below The
average exchange rates between the prevailing currencies in

our foreign operations and the U.S Dollar resulted in an increase in operating income of $3.4 million for 2011

Our operating income increased 25% in 2010 to $105.5 million from $84.7 million in 2009 The operating results for 2009 had included

provision for an uncollectable receivable of $3.1 million howeveç in 2010 we were able to recover the full amount plus attorneys fees costs

and interest bringing the total recovery to $4.2 million If the $4.2 million were subtracted from the 2010 results and $3.1 million added back

to the 2009 results operating income would have increased about 15% in 2010 commensurate with the increase in sales See the segment

discussions following for further information about segment operating income

Net income attributable to Cubic increased to $84.8 million $3.17 per share in 2011 from $70.6 million $2.64 per share in 2010 and $55.7

million $2.08 per share in 2009 Higher net income in both 2011 and 2010 resulted primarily from the improvement in operating income as

described above Our net income also increased in 2011 due to the decrease in our effective tax rate described below and due to the impact

of foreign currency exchange rate changes on U.S dollar denominated investments held by our wholly-owned subsidiary in the U.K that has
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

the British Pound as its functional currency The impact of exchange rates on these U.S dollar denominated investments is recorded as other

non-operating income and resulted in gain of $2.3 million in 2011 aFter taxes or $0.09 per share There was no net gain or loss recorded on

these investments in 2010 or 2009 due to the impact of foreign currency exchange rates Net income in 2009 had also included provision for

settlement of lawsuit of $1.4 million that reduced net income by approximately $0.9 million after taxes or $0.03 per share

The gross margin from product sales was 29.2% in 2011 compared to 28.1% in 2010 and 25.1% in 2009 Improved performance from our

defense systems training business primarily accounted for the increases in 2011 and 2010 The
gross margin from service sales was 19.0% in

2011 compared to 13.1% in 2010 and 16.1% in 2009 The primary reasons for the increase in gross margins from services in 2011 were the

improvement in margin and increase in service revenue related to our transportation business in the U.K and Australia as well as the
gross

margin from 2011 Abraxas sales since the acquisition in December 2010 In addition MSS recorded provision of $2.0 million in 2010 related

to dispute with customer over contract terms This dispute was settled in 2011 resulting in gain of $1.4 million The primary reason for the

decrease in gross margin on services in 2010 was the consolidation of TranSys as mentioned above This added nearly $30 million to sales in

2010 but at very low gross margin because this VIE was designed as pass-through entity and was intended to break-even

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses increased to $155.0 million or 12.1% of sales in 2011 compared to $120.8 million or

10.1% of sales in 2010 and $111.8 million or 11.0% of sales in 2009 The increase in SGA expenses in 2011 was primarily due to increased

business development expenses for two defense systems businesses acquired in 2010 as well as increased business development expenses

related to other businesses within our defense systems segment The acquisition of Abraxas in the MSS segment added to 2011 SGA expense

In 2011 we also incurred more bid and proposal costs as percentage of revenue throughout the organization and more SGA costs related

to the growth of our transportation systems business in Australia and the U.K In addition in 2009 we had established $3.1 million allowance

for doubtful accounts receivable related to company through which we sold training systems products to the U.S government because they

failed to pass on to us cash they collected from the government on our behalf In 2010 we were able to collect the entire amount plus attorneys

fees costs and interest for total recovery in 2010 of $4.2 million As result the provision for bad debts and related reversal impacted the

ratio of SGA expense to sales between 2011 2010 and 2009 The increase in 2010 SGA expenses compared to 2009 was due primarily

to increased bid and proposal costs and growth of our business in Australia

Company-sponsored research and development RD spending totaled $25.3 million in 2011 compared to $19.0 million in 2010 and $8.2

million in 2009 Our increased RD expenditures in 2011 were primarily related to the development of products by the two defense companies

we acquired in 2010 including multi-band communication tracking devices and cross domain hardware solutions to address multi-level security

requirements We also increased RD spending in 2011 and 2010 related to new technologies for ground combat training systems in our

defense systems business significant portion of our RD spending is incurred in connection with the performance of work on our contracts The

amount of contract required development activity in 2011 was approximately $72 million compared to $63 million in 2010 and $54 million in

2009 however these costs are included in cost of sales rather than RD as they are directly related to contract performance

Amortization expense
increased to $14.7 million or 1.1% of sales in 2011 compared to $6.8 million or 0.6% of sales in 2010 and $6.4 million

or 0.6% of sales in 2009 The increase in 2011 was primarily due to our acquisition of Abraxas in December 2010

Interest and dividend income was $2.6 million in 2011 compared to $1.6 million in 2010 and $1.7 million in 2009 Interest and dividend

income increased in 2011 due to the increase in local currencies held by our wholly-owned subsidiaries in New Zealand and Australia These

foreign investments earned higher interest rate in 2011 than our other cash and short term investments Other Income Expense netted to

income of $4.2 million in 2011 $0.6 million in 2010 and $0.9 million in 2009 The increase in other income in 2011 was caused by the impact

of foreign currency exchange rate changes on U.S Dollar denominated investments held by our wholly-owned subsidiary in the U.K that has

the British Pound as its functional currency The impact of exchange rates on these U.S Dollar denominated investments is recorded as other non-

operating income and resulted in gain of $3.2 million in 2011 There was no net gain or loss recorded on these investments in 2010 or 2009

due to the impact of foreign currency exchange rates Interest expense decreased to $1.5 million in 2011 compared to $1.8 million in 2010 and

$2.0 million in 2009 due to reduction in long-term borrowings over the three year period

Our effective tax rate for 2011 was 27.7% of pretax income compared to 33.3% in 2010 and 34.7% in 2009 Our effective tax rate decreased

in 2011 from 2010 primarily due to the increase in the amount of our income earned in foreign tax jurisdictions that is taxed at lower rates

than the U.S federal statutory tax rate We do not provide for U.S taxes on earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as we consider them to be

permanently reinvested Our effective tax rate also decreased in 2011 due to an increase in RD and other income tax credits In addition

in the quarter ended December 31 2010 the U.S Congress retroactively reinstated the RD credit which had expired in December 2009

Because the reinstatement was retroactive in addition to the benefit for the 2011 RD credit the first quarter provision this year benefitted by

$1.5 million which is the estimated credit we will realize in our fiscal 2010 tax return In 2011 we also recorded benefit of $1.3 million due to

the reversal of uncertain tax positions relating to statute expirations
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
Continued

The effective tax rate decreased in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily because of the reversal of tax contingency provisions due to the

expiration of statutes totaling $1.7 million compared to only $0.1 million in 2009 These factors were partially offset by lower RD credit

realized in 2010 because U.S Congress allowed the credit to expire as of December 31 2009

Our effective tax rate could be affected in future
years by among other factors the mix of business between U.S and foreign jurisdictions our

ability to take advantage of available tax credits and audits of our records by taxing authorities

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS SEGMENT

Years ended September 30 2011 2010 2009

in millions

Transportation Systems Sales 415.4 386.0 303.4

Transportation Systems Operating Income 56.0 54.7 44.1

CTS sales increased 8% to $415.4 million in 2011 compared to $386.0 million in 2010 Sales were up in Europe and Australia but decreased

in North America The overall increase in sales was primarily due to higher revenue from our new contract in Vancouver B.C Canada our

contract with Transport for London TfL and our contracts in Sydney and Brisbane Australia Partially offsetting these increases were lower sales

from gating system contract in Southern California which was completed in 2010 and lower sales in the San Francisco Bay area The average

exchange rates between the prevailing currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S Dollar resulted in an increase in sales of $lo.2 million

for the year

CTS sales increased 27% in 2010 to $386.0 million from $303.4 million in 2009 Sales were higher in 2010 from work in the San Francisco

Bay area our contract with TfL the installation of gating system in Southern California and from new contract in Sydney Australia These

increases were partially offset by lower sales from system installation contract in Florida which was completed early in 2010 and from train

operating companies in the U.K portion of the sales increase from the TfL contract resulted from consolidation of the companys 50% owned

subsidiary TranSys beginning in March of 2010 This newly consolidated subsidiary added $29.9 million to sales in 2010 The average

exchange rates between the prevailing currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S dollar had no significant impact on sales for 2010

compared to 2009

CTS operating income improved to $56.0 million in 2011 from $54.7 million in 2010 an increase of 2% Operating income was higher on

increased revenue from our contracts in the U.K and Australia and our operating margin percentage increased in Australia due to reduction in

bid and proposal costs in 2011 compared to costs incurred in 2010 to secure the Sydney contract Partially offsetting these increases were lower

operating income on lower sales from the gating system customer in Southern California mentioned above In addition in 2010 we received

contract modification that resolved contingency on contract in Europe resulting in reversal of $1.6 million reserve that added to

operating income in 2010 The
average exchange rates between the prevailing currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S Dollar resulted

in an increase in operating income of $1.7 million for 2011

Operating income from CTS increased 24% in 2010 to $54.7 million from $44.1 million in 2009 Increased income resulted from higher sales

and margins in North America and from slightly higher operating profits from European operations contract modification received in 2010

resolved contingency on contract in Europe allowing us to reverse reserve of $1.6 million that had been recorded in 2009 Results from

European operations for 2010 also included pension curtailment charge of $0.7 million Results in 2009 had included contract restructuring

agreements
that added $1.6 million to operating income and foreign currency exchange gain that added $1.4 million The additional sales

from TranSys mentioned above did not add to operating income because TranSys operated on break-even basis as it was designed to do The

average exchange rates between the prevailing currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S dollar had no significant impact on operating

income for 2010 compared to 2009
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DEFENSE SYSTEMS SEGMENT

Years ended September 30 2011 2010 2009

in millions

Defense Systems Sales

Training systems 339.7 297.4 238.5

Communications 41.3 61.9 45.4

Other 11.7 3.5 1.5

392.7 362.8 285.4

Defense Systems Operating Income

Training systems 45.9 26.9 16.2

Communications 6.8 4.3 34

Other 14.8 2.5 0.6

37.9 28.7 19.0

TRAINING SYSTEMS

Training systems sales were up 14% for 2011 to $339.7 million from $297.4 million last
year Higher sales from air combat training ground

combat training and MILES Multiple Integrated Laser Engagement Simulation equipment all contributed to the increase Sales of air combat

training systems to the U.S military and to customers in the Far East grew this year Increases in ground training system sales in the U.K more

than offset decreases in sales of ground training systems to customers in the Far East The overage exchange rates between the prevailing

currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S Dollar resulted in an increase in training system sales of $5.3 million for 2011

Training systems sales increased 25% in 2010 to $297.4 million compared to $238.5 million in 2009 Sales were higher in 2010 from all major

product lines including air and ground combat training systems MILES equipment and small arms training systems Significant fourth quarter

deliveries of air combat training systems to the U.S military helped to push sales higher for 2010 more than offsetting lower air combat training

sales to customers in the Far East Sales were also higher for the
year

from ground combat training system contract for customer in the Far

East The average exchange rates between the prevailing currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S dollar had no significant impact on

sales for 2010 compared to 2009

Operating income for training systems increased 71% to $45.9 million in 2011 compared to $26.9 million in 2010 The growth in operating

income was primarily attributable to improved margins from the sale of ground combat training system to customer in the Far East increased

operating income on higher sales of air combat training systems to the U.S military and to customer in the Far East and improved margins

on increased sales of MILES equipment The 2010 operating income for training systems was positively impacted by the $4.2 million bad

debt recovery described below We invested $3.4 million in 2011 and similar amount in 2010 in the development of new ground combat

training technology for tactical vehicles which limited our operating income in both
years

The
average exchange rates between the prevailing

currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S Dollar resulted in an increase in training systems operating income of $1.8 million for 2011

Training systems operating income increased 66% in 2010 to $26.9 million from $16.2 million in 2009 Higher sales from the ground combat

training system in the Far East mentioned above added to operating income in 2010 as well as higher sales and improved profit margins from

MILES In addition in 2009 we had established $3.1 million allowance for doubtful accounts receivable related to company through

which we sold training systems products to the U.S government because they failed to pass on to us cash they collected from the government

on our behalf In 2010 we were able to collect the entire amount plus attorneys fees costs and interest for total recovery in 2010 oF $4.2

million These improvements were partially offset by lower operating income from lower sales of air combat training systems to customers in the

Far East where we had realized higher margins in 2009 In addition in the fourth quarter of 2010 we invested $3.2 million in the development

of new ground combat training technology for tactical vehicles which limited growth in our operating income in 2010 The average exchange

rates between the prevailing currencies in our foreign operations and the U.S dollar had no significant impact on operating income for 2010

compared to 2009
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Con ned

COMMUNICATIONS

Communications sales declined 33% to $41.3 million in 2011 from $61.9 million in 2010 Sales of dota links and power amplifiers decreased

this year
while sales of personnel locater systems were relatively consistent between years

Communications sales grew 36% in 2010 to $61.9 million from $45.4 million in 2009 Sales were higher in 2010 from all three major product

lines including personnel locator systems data links and power amplifiers We began work on new contract in 2010 called Video Scout and

produced spare parts for the Joint-STARS system we delivered
years ago which contributed to the increase in data link sales

Operating income from communications increased 58% to $6.8 million in 2011 from $4.3 million in 2010 In 2010 we realized operating losses

of $6.0 million on sales of new mini-common data link mini-CDL product and Video Scout product as result of development costs incurred

in 2010 compared to profitable sales of these products in 2011

Communications operating income increased to $4.3 million in 2010 compared to $3.4 million in 2009 which is 26% increase In 2010

higher operating income on higher sales from all three product lines was partially offset by development costs for new products including Video

Scout and mini-CDL

OTHER

In 2010 CDS added two new businesses through acquisitions that are developing cross domain and global asset tracking products During

2011 we increased our investment in the development and marketing of these products resulting in an operating loss for the
year as reflected in

the other caption in the table above Also included in the other category above were development costs for combat identification technologies

Partially offsetting these
expenses was an adjustment of $0.7 million recorded in 2011 that reduced our estimated

liability
for contingent

consideration related to one of the acquisitions made in 2010

MISSION SUPPORT SERVICES SEGMENT

Years ended September 30 2011 2010 2009

in millions

Mission Support Services Sales 475.8 443.3 424.4

Mission Support Services Operating Income 24.0 26.5 27.9

MSS soles were up
7% to $475.8 million in 2011 compared to $443.3 million in 2010 Our acquisition of Abraxas in December 2010 added

$50.0 million to sales for 2011 Sales growth was also driven by increased activity in support of homeland security under our Seaport-e

contract and in support of instruction and maintenance of
flight

simulators Partially offsetting these sales increases were lower sales from the

Joint Readiness Training Center JRTC in Fort Polk LA and from the U.S Army Quartermaster Center and School Sales also decreased from

training and education contracts due to delays in contract awards as well as services insourcing primarily by the U.S Army and the migration

of certain contracts to small businesses where we are now in subcontractor role The insourcing of services and emphasis on small business

awards have limited MSS growth and may continue to do so in the near term

MSS sales increased 4% in 2010 over 2009 Increased activity at the JRTC and at the U.S Army Quartermaster Center and School added

to sales in 2010 In addition higher sales from two contracts with the U.S Marine Corps and contract at the Joint Coalition Warfare

Center JCWC added to the sales total in 2010 compared to 2009 Partially offsetting these improvements in 2010 were lower sales from

trainer maintenance contract that we lost to small business competitor and from contract for services performed in Iraq that had added

approximately $6.8 million to sales in 2009 but was completed

MSS operating income decreased 9% to $24.0 million in 2011 from $26.5 million last
year

Abraxas incurred an operating loss of $3.5 million

for 2011 which included amortization of intangible assets of $8.2 million for the year as well as acquisition costs of $0.7 million Lower revenue

from certain higher margin training and education contracts also contributed to the decrease in operating income for 2011 These decreases

were partially offset by an increase in operating margin on increased sales from certain information operations contracts In 2010 MSS

recorded provision of $2.0 million for dispute with customer over contract terms As result of the settlement of this dispute we recorded

gain of $1.4 million in 2011

MSS operating income decreased 5% to $26.5 million in 2010 from $27.9 million in 2009 MSS operating income in 2010 was impacted by

the $2.0 million reserve recorded for the dispute with customer over contract terms discussed above The contract in Iraq mentioned above
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that was completed in 2009 also had added to operating income in 2009 Higher operating income on higher sales in 2010 from the contracts

mentioned above partially offset these decreases when compared to 2009

Amortization of purchased intangibles included in the MSS results amounted to $11.7 million $4.5 million and $5.4 million in 2011 2010 and

2009 respectively

BACKLOG

September30 2011

Total backlog

Transportation Systems

Mission Support Services

Defense Systems

1368.5

932.2

1112.6

850.3

2486.3

As reflected in the table above total backlog increased $350.5 million and funded backlog increased $291.1 million from September 30 2010

to September 30 2011 The majority of the CTS backlog increase was from new contract awarded in Vancouver which added $184.3 million

as of September 30 2011 In addition changes in exchange rates between the prevailing currency in our foreign operations and the U.S Dollar

as of the end of fiscal 2011 decreased backlog by approximately $1.1 million compared to September 30 2010 The acquisition of Abraxas

added $106.8 million to our total MSS backlog as of September 30 2011

The difference between total backlog and funded backlog represents options under multiyear service contracts Funding for these contracts

comes from annual operating budgets of the U.S government and the options are normally exercised annually Options for the purchase of

additional systems or equipment are not included in backlog until exercised In addition to the amounts identified above we have been selected

as participant in or in some cases the sole contractor for several substantial indefinite delivery/ indefinite quantity IDIQ contracts IDIQ

contracts are not included in backlog until an order is received We also have several service contracts in our transportation business that

include contingent revenue provisions tied to meeting certain performance criteria These variable revenues are also not included in the amounts

identified above

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

in millions

2010

Training systems 489.1 469.0

Communications 36.0 46.o

Other 9.7 7.8

Total Defense Systems 534.8 523.4

Other Operations

Total

Funded backlog

Transportation Systems

Mission Support Services

Defense Systems

Training systems

Communications

Other

Total Defense Systems

Other Operations

Total

1.3

2836.8

1368.5

258.8

489.1

36.0

9.7

534.8

1.3

2163.4

1112.6

236.3

469.0

46.6

7.8

523.4

1872.3
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
Continued

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In June 2009 the FASB issued standard which changes the approach in determining whether an entity is variabJe interest entity and

modifies the methods allowed for determining the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity In addition this standard requires ongoing

reassessments of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity and enhanced disclosures related to an enterprises

involvement in variable interest entity We adopted this standard on October 2009 The adoption of this standard did not have significant

impact on our results of operations financial position or cash flows The future impact of this standard will depend on the size and structure of

future investments in variable interest entities

In October 2009 the FASB issued revised accounting guidance relating to multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements which can be applied

prospectively or retrospectively This guidance modifies the objective-and-reliable-evidence-of-fair-value criterion from the separation criteria

used to determine whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting replaces references to

fair value with selling price to distinguish from the fair value measurement required under the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

guidance provides hierarchy that entities must use to estimate the selling price eliminates the use of the residual method for allocation and

expands the ongoing disclosure requirements We adopted this guidance prospectively as of October 2009 The adoption of this update did

not have material impact on our consolidated financial position
results of operations or cash flows

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Operating activities provided cash of $132.6 million in 2011 compared to $111.7 million in 2010 and $176.0 million in 2009 In addition to

cash generated by earnings decrease in accounts receivable in each of the three years amounting to $4.2 million $28.6 million and $36.2

million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively contributed to the positive cash flows In addition net customer advances of $45.5 million $20.7

million and $48.7 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively added to the positive result decrease in inventory of $16.6 million also

contributed to the positive results in 2010 For 2011 and 2009 an increase in inventory partially offset the improvements using cash of $3.8

million and $4.3 million respectively Positive operating cash flows in 2011 2010 and 2009 came from all three segments In 2011 and 2010

CTS provided the greatest portion of the positive cash flows while in 2009 CDS provided more than half of the operating cash flows Partially

offsetting the positive operating cash flows were payments of $13.2 million for income taxes in 2011 and $27.0 million in value added tax VAT
in 2010 related to the wind-up of the PRESTIGE contract within TranSys our 50% owned variable interest entity We consolidated TranSys with

our results for the first time in the second quarter of 2010 adding cash of $38.3 million to investing activities This was the primary source of

cash used to make these income tax and VAT payments which are included in operating activities

We have classified certain unbilled accounts receivable balances as noncurrent because we do not expect to receive payment within one year

from the balance sheet date At September 30 2011 this balance was $23.7 million compared to $28.1 million at September 30 2010

Cash flows used in investing activities in 2011 included $126.0 million for the acquisition of Abraxas and $0.7 million for one small defense

systems acquisition made during the yeac and an additional payment of $0.2 million for small defense systems acquisition made in 2010

As mentioned above the consolidation of TranSys added $38.3 million to cash from investing activities in 2010 Cash flows used in investing

activities in 2010 included $7.4 million for two small defense systems acquisitions and an additional payment of $0.9 million for transportation

systems acquisition made in 2009 In 2009 two transportation systems acquisitions used $13.9 million as well as the final payment of $6.1

million from 2008 acquisition We also made normal capital expenditures in 2011 2010 and 2009 of $8.7 million $6.9 million and $5.3

million respectively We received net proceeds from the sale of short-term investments of $58.3 million in 2011 and purchased net short-term

investments of $76.0 million in 2010 and $8.1 million in 2009

Financing activities in 2011 included scheduled payments on long-term borrowings of $4.6 million and the payment of dividends to shareholders

of $7.5 million 28 cents per share which included one time special dividend declared in the second quarter of 10 cents per share Similarly

in 2010 and 2009 financing activities included payments on long-term borrowings of $4.5 million and $6.0 million respectively and both years

included payments of dividends to shareholders of $4.8 million 18 cents per share

The accumulated deficit in other comprehensive income loss increased $13.6 million in 2011 due to negative adjustment from foreign

currency
translation of $4.1 million and an unrealized loss on cash flow hedges of $5.6 million In addition there was an increase in the

recorded liability for our pension plans of $3.9 million after applicable income taxes These adjustments resulted in negative balance

in accumulated other comprehensive income of $23.3 million at September 30 2011 compared to negative balance of $9.7 million at

September 30 2010

The net deferred tax assets decreased to $25.1 million at September 30 2011 compared to $36.4 million at September 30 2010 In 2011

we recorded net deferred tax liability
of $7.6 million in connection with our acquisition of Abraxas to reflect the tax impact of the identified
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
SI

intangible assets that will not generate tax deductible amortization expense net of the future tax benefit of acquired net operating loss

carrybacks and carryforwards Also net deferred tax liabilities increased by $11.7 million in 2011 due to change in the tax accounting

method for recording service contract revenue The decrease in the deferred tax assets in 2011 was partially offset by the effect of recording

adjustments to the pension liability through other comprehensive income which resulted in an additional deferred tax asset of $2.0 million at

September 30 2011 We expect to generate sufficient taxable income in the future such that the net deferred tax asset will be realized

Our financial condition remains strong with working capital of $332.1 million and current ratio of 2.0 to at September 30 2011 We expect

that cash on hand and our ability to access the debt markets will be adequate to meet our working capital requirements for the foreseeable

future In addition to short-term borrowing arrangements we have in New Zealand and Australia we have committed three year credit facility

from
group

of financial institutions in the U.S aggregating $150 million This agreement will expire in December 2012 As of September

30 2011 $84.4 million of this capacity was used for letters of credit leaving an additional $65.6 million available Our total debt to capital

ratio at September 30 2011 was 3% In addition our cash and short-term investments totaled $355.0 million at September 30 2011 which

exceeded our total debt by $339.1 million Our cash is invested primarily in highly liquid bank deposits and
government instruments in the U.S

U.K New Zealand and Australia

As of September 30 2011 $268.4 million of the $355.0 million of our cash cash equivalents and short-term investments was held by our

foreign subsidiaries primarily in the U.K New Zealand and Australia If these funds are needed for our operations in the U.S we would be

required to accrue and pay U.S taxes to repatriate these funds However we have the intent and ability to permanently reinvest these funds

outside of the U.S and our current plans do not demonstrate need to repatriate them to fund our U.S operations

The following is schedule of our contractual obligations outstanding as of September 30 2011

Total Less than Year
years years

After
years

in millions

15.9 4.5 9.1 1.1 1.2

1.7 0.7 0.7 0.2 0.1

29.3 8.2 10.9 4.8 5.4

9.2 0.9 1.4 0.5 6.4

56.1 14.3 22.1 6.6 13.1

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Long-term debt

Interest payments

Operating leases

Deferred compensation

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Our consolidated financial statements are based on the application of U.S Generally Accepted Accounting Principles GAAP which require

us to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and the

accompanying notes Future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty Therefore the determination of estimates requires the

exercise of judgment Actual results could differ from those estimates and any such differences may be material to our consolidated financial

statements We believe the estimates set forth below may involve higher degree of judgment and complexity in their application than our other

accounting estimates and represent the critical accounting estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements We believe

our judgments related to these accounting estimates are appropriate However if different assumptions or conditions were to prevail the results

could be materially different from the amounts recorded

significant portion of our business is derived from long-term development production and system integration contracts We consider the

nature of these contracts and the types of products and services provided when we determine the proper accounting for particular contract

Generally we record revenue for long-term fixed price contracts on percentage-of-completion basis using the cost-to-cost method to measure

progress
toward completion Many of our long-term fixed-price contracts require us to deliver minimal quantities over long period of time or

to perform substantial level of development effort in relation to the total value of the contract Under the cost-to-cost method of accounting

we recognize revenue based on ratio of the costs incurred to the estimated total costs at completion For certain other long-term fixed price

production contracts not requiring substantial development effort we use the units-of-delivery percentage-of-completion method as the basis to

measure progress
toward completing the contract and recognizing sales The units-of-delivery measure recognizes revenues as deliveries are
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
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made to the customer generally using unit sales values in accordance with the contract terms We estimate profit as the difference between total

estimated revenue and total estimated cost of contract and recognize that profit over the life of the contract based on deliveries

As general rule we reco9nize sales and profits earlier in production cycle when we use the cost-to-cost method of percentage-of-completion

accounting than when we use the units-of-delivery method In addition our profits and margins may vary materially depending on the types

of long-term contracts undertaken the costs incurred in their performance the achievement of other performance objectives and the stage of

performance at which theright to receive fees particularly under award and incentive fee contracts is finally determined

Award fees and incentives related to performance on contracts which are generally awarded at the discretion of the customer as well as

penalties related to contract performance are considered in estimating sales and
profit

rates Estimates of award fees are based on actual

awards and anticipated performance Incentive provisions that increase or decrease earnings based solely on single significant event are

generally not recognized until the event occurs Those incentives and penalties are recorded when there is sufficient information for us to assess

anticipated performance

Accounting for long-term contracts requires judgment relative to assessing risks estimating contract revenues and costs and making assumptions

for schedule and technical issues Due to the scope and nature of the work required to be performed on many of our contracts the estimation of

total revenue and cost at completion is complicated and subject to many variables Contract costs include material labor and subcontracting

costs as well as an allocation of indirect costs We have to make assumptions regarding labor productivity and availability the complexity of the

work to be performed the availability of materials estimated increases in wages and prices for materials performance by our subcontractors

and the availability and timing of funding From our customeç among other variables For contract change orders claims or similar items we

apply judgment in estimating the amounts and assessing the potential for realization These amounts are only included in contract value when

they can be reliably estimated and realization is considered probable We have accounting policies in place to address these as well as other

contractual and business arrangements to properly account for long-term contracts

Products and services provided under long-term fixed-price contracts represented approximately 73% of our net sales for 2011 Because of

the significance of the judgments and estimation processes it is likely that materially different amounts could be recorded if we used different

assumptions or if our underlying circumstances were to change For example if underlying assumptions were to change such that our estimated

profit rate at completion for all fixed-price contracts was higher or lower by one percentage point our 2011 net earnings would have increased

or decreased by approximately $6 million When adjustments in estimated contract revenues or estimated costs at completion are required any

changes from prior estimates are recognized by recording adjustments in the current period for the inception-to-date effect of the changes on

current and prior periods using the cumulative catch-up method of accounting When estimates of total costs to be incurred on contract exceed

total estimates of revenue to be earned provision for the entire loss on the contract is recorded in the period the loss is determined

We occasionally enter into contracts primarily in our transportation systems business that include multiple deliverables such as the construction

or upgrade of system and subsequent services related to the delivered system Historically these contracts have not been common in our

business however recently we have seen an increase in the number of customer requests
for proposal that include this type of contractual

arrangement An example of this is contract we entered into in 2011 to provide system upgrades and long-term services for the Vancouver

B.C Canada Smart Card and Faregate system We elected to adopt updated authoritative accounting guidance for multiple-element

arrangements in 2010 on prospective basis For contracts of this nature entered into in 2010 and beyond the contract value is allocated at

the inception of the contract to the different contract elements based on their relative selling price The relative selling price for each deliverable

is determined using vendor specific objective evidence VSOE of selling price or third-party evidence of selling price if VSOE does not exist

If neither VSOE nor third-party evidence exists which is typically the case for our contracts we use our best estimate of the selling price for

each deliverable Once the contract value is allocated to the separate deliverables revenue recognition guidance relevant to each contractual

element is followed For example for the long-term construction portion of contract we use the cost-to-cost percentage-of-completion

method and for the services portion we recognize the service revenues on straight-line basis over the contractual service period or based on

measurable units of work performed or incentives earned The judgment we apply in allocating the relative selling price to each deliverable can

have significant impact on the timing of recognizing revenues and operating income on contract

We provide services under contracts including outsourcing-type arrangements and operations and maintenance contracts Revenue under our

service contracts with the U.S Government which is generally in our MSS segment is recorded under the costs-to-cost percentage-of-completion

method Award Fees and incentives related to performance on services contracts at MSS are generally accrued during the performance of the

contract based on our historical experience with such awards

Revenue under contracts for services other than those with the U.S Government and those associated with design development or production

activities is recognized either as services are performed or when contractually required event has occurred depending on the contract These
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types of service contracts are entered primarily by our CTS segment Revenue under such contracts is generally recognized on straight-line

basis over the period of contract performance unless evidence suggests that the revenue is earned or the obligations are fulfilled in different

pattern Costs incurred under these services contracts are expensed as incurred Earnings related to services contracts may fluctuate from period

to period particularly in the earlier phases of the contract Incentive fees included in some of our transportation systems service contracts are

recognized when they become fixed and determinable based on the provisions of the contract Often these fees are based on meeting certain

contractually required service levels or based on system usage levels

More than half of our total sales are driven by pricing based on costs incurred to produce products or perform services under contracts with the

U.S Government Cost-based pricing is determined under the Federal Acquisition Regulation FAR The FAR provides guidance on the types of

costs that are allowable in establishing prices for goods and services under U.S Government contracts For example costs such as those related

to charitable contributions interest expense and certain advertising activities are unallowable and therefore not recoverable through sales

We closely monitor compliance with and the consistent application our critical accounting policies related to contract accounting Business

segment personnel evaluate our contracts through periodic contract status and performance reviews Corporate management and our internal

auditors also monitor compliance with our revenue recognition policies and review contract status with segment personnel Costs incurred and

allocated to contracts are reviewed for compliance with U.S Government regulations by our personnel and are subject to audit by the Defense

Contract Audit Agency For other information on accounting policies we have in place for recognizing sales and profits see our discussion under

Revenue Recognition in Note to the financial statements

INCOME TAXES

Significant judgment is required in determining our income tax provisions and in evaluating our tax return positions We establish reserves when

despite our belief that our tax return positions are fully supportable we believe it is more-likely-than-not tax position taken or expected to be

taken in tax return if examined would be challenged and that we may not prevail We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and

circumstances such as the progress of tax audit

Tax regulations require items to be included in the tax return at different times than the items are reflected in the financial statements and are

referred to as timing difFerences In addition some expenses are not deductible on our tax return and are referred to as permanent
differences

Timing differences create deferred tax assets and liabilities Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as tax deduction

or credit in future
years

for which we have already recorded the benefit in our income statement We establish valuation allowances for our

deferred tax assets when the amount of expected future taxable income is not likely to support the use of the deduction or credit Deferred tax

liabilities generally represent deductions we have taken on our tax return but have not yet recognized as expense in our financial statements or

income we have recorded in our financial statements that is deferred to future period

We have not recognized any
United States tax expense on undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries since we intend to reinvest the

earnings outside the U.S for the foreseeable future and therefore no amounts of undistributed earnings are available for distribution These

undistributed earnings
totaled approximately $142.0 million at September 30 2011 Annually we evaluate the capital requirements in our

foreign subsidiaries and determine the amount of excess capital if any that is available for distribution Whether or not we actually repatriate

the excess capital in the form of dividend we would provide for U.S taxes on the amount determined to be available for distribution This

evaluation is judgmental in nature and therefore the amount of U.S taxes provided on undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries is

affected by these judgments

PURCHASED INTANGIBLES

We generally fund acquisitions using cash on hand Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with an acquisition are recorded at

their fair values determined by management as of the acquisition day The excess of the transaction consideration over the fair value of the net

assets acquired is recorded as goodwill We amortize intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations over their estimated useful

lives unless their useful lives are determined to be indefinite For certain business combinations we utilize independent valuations to assist us in

estimating the fair value of purchased intangibles Our purchased intangibles primarily relate to contracts and programs acquired and customer

reaionships which are amortized over periods of 15 years or less The determination of the value and useful life of purchased intangibles is

judgmental in nature and therefore the amount of annual amortization expense we record is affected by these judgments For example if the

weighted average amortization period for our purchased intangibles was one year less than we have determined our 2011 net earnings would

have decreased by approximately $1.6 million

2O1 41
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VALUATION OF GOODWILL

We evaluate our recorded goodwill balances for potential impairment annually by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying

value including recorded goodwill Our annual testing date is June 30 We have not yet had case where the carrying value exceeded the

fair value however if it did impairment would be measured by comparing the derived fair value of goodwill to its carrying value and
any

impairment determined would be recorded in the current period To date there has been no impairment of our recorded goodwill Goodwill

balances by reporting unit are as follows

September30 2011 2010

in millions

Mission Support Services 118.4 36.7

Defense Systems 20.7 20.1

Transportation Systems 7.3 7.3

Total goodwill 146.4 64.1

Determining the fair value of reporting unit for purposes of the goodwill impairment test is judgmental in nature and involves the use of

estimates and assumptions These estimates and assumptions could have significant impact on whether or not an impairment charge is

recognized and also the magnitude of any such charge Estimates of fair value are primarily determined using discounted cash flows and market

multiples from publically traded comparable companies These approaches use significant estimates and assumptions including projected

future cash flows discount rate reflecting the inherent risk in future cash flows perpetual growth rate and determination of appropriate market

comparables

For fiscal 2011 the discounted cash flows for each reporting unit were based on discrete three-year financial forecasts developed by

management for planning purposes Cash flows beyond the three-year discrete forecasts were estimated based on projected growth rates

and financial ratios influenced by an analysis of historical ratios and by calculating terminal value at the end of five years for our defense

segments and three years for our transportation segment The future cash flows were discounted to present value using discount rate of

12.0% for our Defense Systems reporting unit 10.5% for our Mission Support Services reporting unit and 8.0% for our Transportation Systems

reporting unit The estimated fair value of each of our reporting units was in excess of its carrying value and accordingly there was no indicator

that goodwill was impaired as of June 30 2011 Changes in estimates and assumptions we make in conducting our goodwill assessment

could affect the estimated fair value of one or more of our reporting units and could result in goodwill impairment charge in future period

However the fair value of our reporting units would remain in excess of their respective carrying values even if there were 10% decrease in

their fair value atJune 30 2011
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PENSION COSTS

The measurement of our pension obligations and costs is dependent on variety of assumptions used by our actuaries These assumptions

include estimates of the present
value of projected future pension payments to plan participants taking into consideration the likelihood of

potential future events such as salary increases and demographic experience These assumptions may have an effect on the amount and timing

of future contributions

The assumptions used in developing the required estimates include the following key factors

Discount rates

Inflation

Salary growth

Expected return on plan assets

Retirement rates

Mortality rates

The discount rate represents
the interest rate that is used to determine the present value of future cash flows currently expected to be required

to settle pension obligations We base the discount rate assumption on investment yields available at year-end on high quality corporate

long-term bonds Our inflation assumption is based on an evaluation of external market indicators The salary growth assumptions reflect our

long-term actual experience in relation to the inflation assumption The expected return on plan assets reflects asset allocations our historical

experience our investment strategy and the views of investment managers and large pension sponsors Mortality rates are based on published

mortality tables Retirement rates are based primarily on actual plan experience The effects of actual results differing from our assumptions are

accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore generally affect our recognized expense in such future periods

Changes in the above assumptions can affect our financial statements although the relatively small size of our defined benefit pension plans

limits the impact any individual assumption changes can have on earnings For example if the assumed rate of return on pension assets was 25

basis points higher or lower than we have assumed our 2011 net earnings would have increased or decreased by approximately $0.4 million if

all other assumptions were held constant

Holding all other assumptions constant an increase or decrease of 25 basis points in the discount rate assumption for 2011 would increase or

decrease net earnings for 2012 by approximately $0.4 million and would have decreased or increased the amount of the benefit obligation

recorded at September 30 2011 by approximately $7.3 million
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30

2011 2010

in thousands

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 329148 295434

Short-term investments 25829 8408

Accounts receivable

Trade and other receivables 20259 11594

Long-term contracts 204120 199353

Allowance for doubtful accounts 395 663

223984 210284

Recoverable income taxes 20725 8320

Inventories 36729 32820

Deferred income taxes 13778 17825

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets 20452 25893

Total current assets 670645 674657

Long-term contract receivables 23700 28080

Property plant and equipment net 48467 47469

Deferred income taxes 11318 18570

Goodwill 146355 64142

Purchased intangibles net 54139 26295

Miscellaneous other assets 4216 5196

Total assets 958840 864409

See accompanying notes
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September 30

2011 2010

in thousands

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 38870 33638

Customer advances 183845 139723

Accrued compensation
49513 48994

Other current liabilities 53826 60041

Income taxes payable 7902 20107

Current maturities of long-term debt 4541 4545

Total current liabilities 338497 307048

Long-term debt 11377 15949

Accrued pension liability
38223 37015

Deferred compensation 7884 8508

Income taxes payable 4479 3382

Other non-current liabilities 6582 4748

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock no par value

Authorized-5000 shares

Issued and outstandingnone

Common stock no par value

Authorized50000 shores

2011 and 2010-Issued 35681 shares outstanding26736 shares 12574 12574

Retained earnings
598849 521567

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss 23294 9745

Treasury stock at cost

2011 and 2010-8945 shares 36078 36074

Shareholders equity related to Cubic 552051 488322

Noncontrolling interest in variable interest entity 253 t563

Total shareholders equity 551798 487759

Total liabilities and shareholders equity 958840 864409
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME iR

Years Ended September 30

2011 2010 2009

amounts in thousands except for per share data

Net sales

Products 618924 636739 526879

Services 666279 557450 489778

1285203 1194189 1016657

Costs and expenses
Products 437992 457651 394478

Services 539973 484343 411038

Selling general and

administrative expenses 154962 120848 111828
Research and development 25260 8976 81 73

Amortization of purchased intangibles 14681 6846 6432

1172868 1088664 931949

Operating income 112335 105525 84708

Other income expenses

Interest and dividend income 2568 1590 1664

Interest expense 1461 1755 2031
Other income net 4205 561 899

Income before income taxes 117647 105921 85240

Income taxes 32569 35285 29554

Net income 85078 70636 55686

Less noncontrolling interest in income of VIE 310

Net income attributable to Cubic 84768 70636 55686

Basic and diluted net income per common share 3.17 2.64 2.08

Average number of common

shares outstanding 26736 26735 2673

See occompanyng notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended September 30

2011 2010 2009

in thousands

Operating Activities

Net income 85078 70636 55686

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 22341 14469 15586

Deferred income taxes 4048 64 3346

Provision for doubtful accounts 3889 3038

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

net of effects from acquisitions

Accounts receivable 4219 28565 362

Inventories 3760 16638 4275

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5516 4401 5141

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 3387 27498 141 75

Customer advances 45517 20672 48663

Income taxes 24205 14614 2890
Other items net 2779 2507 1352

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 132588 111723 176033

Investing Activities

Acquisition of businesses net of cash acquired 126825 8250 19965

Consolidation of variable interest entity 38264

Proceeds from sale of short-term investments 58252 82992

Purchases of short-term investments 158946 8127
Purchases of

property plant and equipment 8728 6878 5332
Other items net 41

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES 77301 52818 33383

Financing Activities

Principal payments on long-term debt 4555 4541 5970
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 44 45

Purchases of treasury stock

Dividends paid to shareholders 7486 481 4811
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES 12045 9312 10736

Effect of exchange rates on cash 9528 767 536

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 33714 51360 131378

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
year 295434 244074 11 2696

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

THEENDOFTHEYEAR 329148 295434 244074

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY SR

Comprehensive income

Net income

Pension
liability adjustment

net of taxes

Foreign currency

translation adjustment

Net unrealized gains from

cash flow hedges

Comprehensive income

Stock issued under equity

incentive plan

Cash dividends paid $.1

per
share of common stock

55686

15155

3884

112

36759

4811

15155

3884

112

September 30 2009 12530 455743 11357 36071

Comprehensive income

Net income

Pension liability adjustment

net of taxes

Foreign currency

translation adjustment

Net unrealized gains from

cash flow hedges

Comprehensive income

Consolidation of variable

interest
entity

Stock issued under equity

incentive plan

Purchase of treasury stock

Cash dividends paid $.1

per share of common stock

70636

1932

2061

1483

72248

44

70636

4812

1932

2061

1483

563

September 30 2010

Comprehensive income

Net income

Pension liability adjustment

net of taxes

Foreign currency

translation adjustment

Net unrealized losses from

cash flow hedges

Comprehensive income

Purchase of treasury stock

Cash dividends paid $28

per
share of common stock

September 30 2011

85078

3869

4062

5618
71529

9745 36074

3869

4062

5618

563 26736

See accompanying notes

in thousands except

per share amounts

October 2008

Comprehensive

Income

Retained

Earnings

404868

55686

Accumulated

Other Noncontrollinq Number

Comprehensive Treasury Interest in of Shares

Income Loss Stock VIE Outstanding

7570 36071 26727

Common

Stock

12485

45

26732

12574 521567

84768 310

7486

12574 $598849 23294 36078 253 26736
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Nature of the Business We design develop and manufacture products which are mainly electronic in nature

provide government services and services related to products previously produced by us and others Our principal lines of business are defense

systems defense services and transportation fare collection systems and services Our principal customers for defense products and services are

the United States and foreign governments Our transportation fare collection systems and services are sold primarily to large local government

agencies worldwide

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Cubic Corporation its majority-owned

subsidiaries and as of March 2010 its 50% owned variable interest entity Transaction Systems Limited TranSys We consolidate variable

interest entities VIE when we determine that Cubic is the primary beneficiary of the VIE All significant intercompany balances and transactions

have been eliminated in consolidation The consolidation of foreign subsidiaries requires translation of their assets and liabilities into U.S dollars

at year-end exchange rates We translate our statements of income and cash flows at the average exchange rates for each year Transaction

gains on advances to foreign subsidiaries amounted to $0.1 million $0.8 million and $1.8 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Cash Equivalents We consider highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents

Concentration of Credit Risk We have established guidelines pursuant to which our cash and cash equivalents are diversified among

various money market instruments and investment funds These guidelines emphasize the preservation of capital by requiring minimum credit

ratings assigned by established credit organizations We achieve diversification by specifying maximum investments in each instrument type and

issuer The majority of these investments are not on deposit in federally insured accounts

Short-term Investments Short-term investments include marketable U.S government agency securities and pre-refunded tax exempt

bonds that may be purchased at discount or premium may have callable options and are categorized as available-for-sale securities We

record short-term investments at fair value and we would record
any

net difference between fair market value and cost in accumulated other

comprehensive income loss on the consolidated balance sheets howeveç the difference between cost and fair market value was not material

at September 30 2011

Accounts Receivable Receivables consist primarily of amounts due from U.S and foreign governments for defense products and services

and local government agencies for transportation systems Due to the nature of our customers we generally do not require collateral We have

limited exposure to credit risk as we have historically collected substantially all of our receivables from government agencies We generally

require no allowance for doubtful accounts for these customers unless specific contractual circumstances warrant it

Inventories We state our inventories at the lower of cost or market We determine cost using the first-in first-out FIFO method which

approximates current replacement cost We value our work in process at the actual production and engineering costs incurred to date including

applicable overhead and reduce the value by charging any amounts in excess of estimated realizable value to cost of sales Where contracts

include advances performance-based payments and progress payments we reflect the advances as an offset against any
related inventory

balances

Property Plant and Equipment We
carry property plant and equipment at cost We provide depreciation in amounts sufficient to

amortize the cost of the depreciable assets over their estimated useful lives Generally we use straight-line methods for real property over

estimated useful lives or the term of the underlying lease for leasehold improvements We use accelerated methods declining balance and sum-

of-the-years-digits for machinery and equipment over their estimated useful lives

Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles We evaluate goodwill for potential impairment annually as of June 30 by comparing the fair

value of reporting unit to its carrying value including recorded goodwill If the carrying value exceeds the fair value we would measure

impairment by comparing
the derived fair value of goodwill to its carrying value and

any impairment determined would be recorded in the

current period To date there has been no impairment of our recorded goodwill Our purchased intangible assets are subject to amortization and

we use combination of straight-line and accelerated methods based on the expected cash flows from the assets

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets We generally evaluate the carrying values of long-lived assets other than goodwill for impairment

only if events or changes in facts and circumstances indicate that carrying
values may not be recoverable If we determined there was any

impairment we would measure it by comparing the fair value of the related asset to its carrying value and record the difference in the current

period Fair value is generally determined by identifying estimated discounted cash flows to be generated by those assets We have not

recorded
any

material impairments for the years ended September 30 2011 2010 and 2009

U8C Co PORATON 201 ANNuA RH HO 49



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Continued

NOTE 1SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Customer Advances We receive advances performance-based payments and progress payments from customers that may exceed costs

incurred on certain contracts including contracts with agencies of the U.S Government We classify such advances other than those reflected

as reduction of receivables or inventories as current liabilities

Contingencies We establish reserves for loss contingencies when in the opinion of management the likelihood of
liability

is probable and

the extent of such
liability is reasonably estimable Estimates by their nature are based on judgment and currently available information and

involve variety of factors including the type and nature of the litigation claim or proceeding the progress
of the matteç the advice of legal

counsel our defenses and our experience in similar cases or proceedings as well as our assessment of matters including settlements involving

other defendants in similar or related cases or proceedings We may increase or decrease our legal reserves in the future on matter-by-matter

basis to account for developments in such matters

Derivative Financial Instruments All derivatives are recorded at fair value howeveri the classification of gains and losses resulting

from changes in the fair values of derivatives are dependent on the intended use of the derivative and its resulting designation If derivative

is designated as fair value hedge then change in the fair value of the derivative is offset against the change in the fair value of the

underlying hedged item and only the ineffective portion of the hedge if any is recognized in cost of sales If derivative is designated as

cash flow hedge then the effective portion of change in the fair value of the derivative is recognized as component of accumulated other

comprehensive income until the underlying hedged item is recognized in cost of sales or the forecasted transaction is no longer probable of

occurring If derivative does not qualify as highly effective hedge change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings We formally

document hedging relationships for all derivative hedges and the underlying hedged items as well as the risk management objectives and

strategies for undertaking the hedge transactions

Defined Benefit Pension Plans Some of our employees are covered by defined benefit pension plans The net periodic cost of our plans

is determined using several actuarial assumptions the most significant of which are the discount rate and the long-term rate of return on plan

assets We recognize on plan-by-plan basis the funded status of our defined benefit pension plans as either an asset or liability on our balance

sheets with corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income loss net of tax in shareholders equity The funded status

is measured as the difference between the fair value of the plan assets and the benefit obligation of the plan

Other Comprehensive Income We present other comprehensive income OCI and its components in the statement of changes in

shareholders equity

Revenue Recognition We recognize sales and profits under our long-term fixed-price contracts which generally require significant

amount of development effort in relation to total contract value using the cost-to-cost percentage-of-completion method of accounting We
record sales and profits based on the ratio of costs incurred to estimated total costs at completion In the early stages of contract performance

we do not recognize profit until
progress

is demonstrated or contract milestones are reached For certain other long-term fixed price production

contracts not requiring substantial development effort we use the units-of-delivery percentage-of-completion method as the basis to measure

progress
toward completing the contract and recognizing sales We only include amounts representing contract change orders claims or other

items in the contract value when they can be reliably estimated and we consider realization probable Changes in estimates of sales costs

and profits are recognized using the cumulative catch-up method of accounting This method recognizes in the current period the cumulative

effect of the changes on current and prior periods significant change in one or more of these estimates could have material effect on our

consolidated financial position or results of operations

We record sales under cost-reimbursement-type contracts as we incur the costs The Federal Acquisition Regulations provide guidance on

the types of costs that we will be reimbursed in establishing contract price We consider incentives or penalties and awards applicable to

performance on contracts in estimating sales and profits and record them when there is sufficient information to assess anticipated contract

performance We do not recognize incentive provisions that increase or decrease earnings based solely on single significant event until the

event occurs

We occasionally enter into contracts primarily in our transportation systems business that include multiple deliverables such as the construction

or upgrade of system and subsequent services related to the delivered system We elected to adopt updated authoritative accounting

guidance for multiple-element arrangements in 2010 on prospective basis For contracts of this nature entered into in 2010 and beyond the

contract value is allocated at the inception of the contract to the different contract elements based on their relative selling price The relative

selling price for each deliverable is determined using vendor specific objective evidence VSOE of selling price or third-party evidence of

selling price if VSOE does not exist If neither VSOE nor third-party evidence exists which is typically the case for our contracts we use our
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best estimate of the selling price for each deliverable Once the contract value is allocated to the separate deliverables revenue recognition

guidance relevant to each contractual element is followed For example for the long-term construction portion of contract we use the

percentage-of-completion method and for the services portion we recognize the service revenues on straight-line basis over the contractual

service period or based on measurable units of work performed or incentives earned Prior to 2010 we had no contracts within the scope of the

updated authoritative guidance for multiple-element arrangements As such the adoption of this guidance in 2010 had no impact on our results

of operations Financial position or cash flows

Revenue under our service contracts with the U.S Government is recorded under the cost-to-cost percentage-of-completion method Award fees

and incentives related to performance under these service contracts are accrued during the performance of the contract based on our historical

experience and estimates of success with such awards

Revenue under contracts for services other than those with the U.S Government and those associated with design development or production

activities is recognized either as services are performed or when contractually required event has occurred depending on the contract

Revenue under such contracts that do not contain measurable units of work performed is generally recognized on straight-line basis over the

contractual service period unless evidence suggests that the revenue is earned or obligations fulfilled in different manner For such contracts

that contain measurable units of work performed we recognize sales when the units of work are completed For service contracts that contain

service level or system usage incentives we recognize revenues when the incentive award is fixed and determinable Costs incurred under these

services contracts are expensed as incurred

We make provisions in the current period to fully recognize any anticipated losses on contracts If we receive cash on contract prior to

revenue recognition or in excess of inventoried costs we classify it as customer advance on the balance sheet

Other Income Expense Our wholly-owned subsidiary in the U.K that has the British Pound as its functional
currency

holds U.S dollar

denominated investments The impact of exchange rates on these investments is recorded as other non-operating income and resulted in gain

of $3.2 million in 2011 There was no net gain or loss recorded on these investments in 2010 or 2009 due to the impact of foreign currency

exchange rates

Income Taxes Our provision For income taxes includes federal state local and foreign income taxes We recognize tax credits primarily

for research and development as reduction of our provision for income taxes in the year in which they are available for tax purposes We

provide deferred income taxes on temporary differences between assets and liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes as measured by

enacted tax rates we expect to apply when the temporary differences are settled or realized We establish valuation allowances for deferred

tax assets when the amount of future taxable income we expect is not likely to support the use of the deduction or credit Annually we evaluate

the capital requirements of our foreign subsidiaries and determine the amount of excess capital if any that is available for distribution We

provide far U.S taxes on the amount we determine to be excess capital available for distribution U.S taxes are not provided on amounts we

consider to be indefinitely reinvested

Earnings Per Share We calculate per share amounts based upon the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding

New Accounting Standards Accounting standards updates effective after September 30 2011 are not expected to have material

effect on our consolidated financial position results of operations or related disclosures

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles requires us to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Financial statements and accompanying notes Significant estimates

include the estimated total costs at completion of our long-term contracts estimated loss contingencies estimated self-insurance liabilities

estimated discounted cash flows of our reporting units used for goodwill impairment testing and estimated rates of return and discount rates

related to our defined benefit pension plans Actual results could differ from our estimates

Risks and Uncertainties We are subject to the normal risks and uncertainties of performing large multiyear often fixed-price contracts In

addition we are subject to audit of incurred costs related to many of our U.S Government contracts These audits could produce different results

than we have estimated however our experience has been that our costs are acceptable to the government
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Continued

NOTE 2ACQUISITIONS

On December 20 2010 we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Abraxas Corporation Abraxas Herndon Virginia-based

company that provides services that are complementary to our Mission Support Services MSS business including risk mitigation services

and subject matter and operational expertise for law enforcement and homeland security clients The results of Abraxas operations have been

included in our consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date For the twelve months ended September 30 2011 the amounts of

Abraxas net sales and net loss after taxes included in our consolidated statement of income were $50.0 million and $2.3 million respectively

including $0.7 million in transaction related costs before applicable income taxes

We paid $126.0 million in cash from our existing cash resources to acquire Abraxas The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of

the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date in millions The excess of the transaction consideration over the identifiable

assets and liabilities is recognized as goodwill

Customer relationships 20.1

Backlog 11 .5

Corporate trade names 5.7

Non-compete agreements
5.2

Recoverable income taxes 4.3

Deferred tax liabilities net 7.6

Net tangible assets acquired 5.1

Net identifiable assets acquired
44.3

Goodwill 81 .7

Net assets acquired 26.0

The estimated fair value of the recoverable income taxes and the deferred tax liabilities are preliminary pending the finalization of our valuation

analyses

The goodwill resulting from the acquisition consists primarily of the synergies expected from combining the operations of Abraxas and our MSS

business and the acquired assembled workforce The anticipated synergies
include the ability to expand services offerings and cost reductions

The amount recorded as goodwill has been allocated to our MSS segment and is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes

The recoverable income taxes are primarily related to carryback claims for the tax benefit of acquired net operating losses The net deferred tax

liabilities were recorded to reflect the tax impact of the identified intangible assets that will not generate tax deductible amortization expense net

of the future tax benefit of acquired net operating loss carryforwards The intangible assets which include trade name customer relationships

non-compete agreements and backlog will be amortized using combination of straight-line and accelerated methods based on the expected

cash flows from the assets over weighted average useful life of years from the date of acquisition

For the year ended September 30 2011 we recorded $8.2 million of amortization expense The estimated amortization expense
related to the

intangible assets recorded in connection with our acquisition of Abraxas for fiscal years 2012 through 2016 is as follows in millions

Years Ending September 30

2012 9.3

2013 7.8

2014 6.3

2015 4.8

2016 2.4
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The estimated fair values oi purchased intangibles were determined using the valuation methodology deemed to be the most appropriate for

each type of asset being valued Each of the valuation methodologies used were various methods under the income approach The trade names

valuation used the relief from royalty approach The backlog and customer relationships valuation used the excess earnings approach and the

non-compete agreements
valuation used the with and without approach

The following unaudited pro forma information presents our consolidated results of operations as if Abraxas had been included in our

consolidated results since October 2009 in millions

Years Ended

September 30

2011 2010

Netsales 1298.6 1252.1

Net income attributable to Cubic 84.8 70.9

The pro forma information includes adjustments to give effect to pro forma events that are directly attributable ta the acquisition and have

continuing impact including the amortization of purchased intangibles and the elimination of interest expense for the repayment of Abraxas

debt No adjustments were made for transaction expenses other adjustments that do not reflect ongoing operations or for operating efficiencies

or synergies The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of what the consolidated financial results of our operations would

have been had the acquisition been completed on October 2009 and it does not purport to project our future operating results

We acquired two small defense systems companies in 2010 which added $4.8 million to goodwill and $4.3 million to in-process research and

development and contract and program intangibles We believe the purchased intangibles and goodwill acquired in 2010 will be tax deductible

over 15 year amortization period in accordance with U.S tax regulations
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Continued

NOTE 3INVESTMENT IN VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY

Prior to March 2010 we owned 37.5% of the common stock of Transaction Systems Limited TranSys U.K company formed in 1998 to bid

on contract called PRESTIGE Procurement of Revenue Services Ticketing Information Gates and Electronics which outsourced most of the

functions of the Transport for London TfL fare collection system for period of twelve years beginning in August 1998 We did not previously

consolidate TranSys because we were not the primary beneficiary of this VIE All of the work performed by TranSys was subcontracted to us

and the other primary shareholder and the arrangement provided for the pass-through of virtually all revenues from TfL to the two primary

shareholders until August 2010 Beginning in August 2010 the services formerly provided by TranSys are now provided by Cubic under new

contract

On March 2010 the two 37.5% shareholders of TranSys each acquired half of the shares in TranSys previously held by the minority

shareholders for approximately $0.1 million bringing our shore ownership up to 50% each TranSys continues to be considered VIE because

it has not demonstrated the ability to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support

from its equity investors and because

its underlying risks do not coincide with the voting interests As result of the ownership transfer and an early payment by TfL we conducted

new evaluation of the primary beneficiary of TranSys This evaluation as described below determined that Cubic is now the primary beneficiary

and as result we determined we were required to consolidate TranSys as of March 2010

In concluding that Cubic was the primary beneficiary of the TranSys VIE in March 2010 we created model of the expected outcome from

the remaining activities of TranSys and its related subcontracts with its shareholders Based upon quantitative analysis of the probability of

these outcomes we concluded that Cubic was the primary beneficiary of TranSys Effective October 2010 we adopted revised accounting

standard which replaces the quantitative approach for identifying whether an enterprise should consolidate variable interest entity with

qualitative approach based on whether an enterprise has both the power to direct the economically significant activities of the entity and

the obligation to absorb losses of or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the variable interest entity

Based upon our qualitative analysis under this revised guidance we concluded that we continue to be the primary beneficiary of TranSys As

such the adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated results of operations or financial
position

Summarized unaudited financial information for TranSys prior to consolidation is as follows in millions

Results for the periods ending

Statement of Operations March 2010 September 30 2009

Net sales 87.3 203.0

Operating income floss 0.2 1.7

Net income loss 0.1 1.3

As result of becoming the primary beneficiary of TranSys the consolidation of TranSys was treated as an acquisition in our financial statements

The fair value of the enterprise was virtually the same as the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired therefore no gain or loss was

recorded from the transaction

The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired at March 2010 were as follows in millions

Cash and cash equivalents 38.3

Other current assets 6.9

0.2

20.7

Purchased intangibles

Income taxes payable

Other current liabilities

Fair value of net assets acquired

35.8

1.1
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The activities of TranSys included in our consolidated results are as follows in millions

4.4 29.9

Operating profit
0.9

Cash used in operating activities 18.4

The total assets and total liabilities respectively of TranSys included in our consolidated balance sheets were $0.4 million and $0.9 million at

September 30 2011 and $18.8 million and $19.9 million at September 30 2010

NOTE 4FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The valuation techniques required to determine fair value are based upon observable and unobservable inputs Observable inputs reflect market

data obtained from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect internal market assumptions The two types of inputs create the

following fair value hierarchy

Level Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets

Level Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not

active and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable

Level Significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable

The fair value of cash equivalents and short term investments approximates their cost The fair value of tax exempt bonds and U.S Government

agency securities are are generally determined using standard observable inputs including reported trades quoted market prices broken

dealer quotes and issuer spreads The maturity dates of tax exempt bonds are within the next year Derivative financial instruments are measured

at fair value the material portions of which are based on active or inactive markets for identical or similar instruments or model-derived

valuations whose inputs are observable Where model-derived valuations are appropriate the company uses the applicable credit spread as the

discount rate Credit risk related to derivative financial instruments is considered minimal and is managed by requiring high credit standards for

counterparties and through periodic settlements of positions

The following table presents assets and liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on our balance sheets on recurring basis in thousands

Assets

September 30 2011

Level Level Total

September 30 2010

Level Level Total

Cash equivalents 266842 266842 129756 129756

Short-term investments U.S government

agency securities

Short-term investments tax exempt bonds

Current derivative assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Current derivative iabiities

Noncurrent derivative liabilities

Net assets

25829 25829

7466 7466

266842 33295 300 137

7522 7522

6164 6164

266842 19609 286451

36000 36000

48081 48081

Sales

Years Ended September 30 2011 2010

19.9

11428 11428

29756 95509 225265

3193 3193

4748 4748

129756 87568 217324
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Con tin ed

NOTE 4FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Continued

We carry financial instruments including cash equivalents accounts receivable accounts payable and accrued liabilities at cost which we

believe approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments The fair value of long-term debt is calculated by

discounting the value of the note based on market interest rates for similar debt instruments At September 30 2011 the fair value of our long-

term debt was estimated to be approximately $17.5 million compared to carrying value of $15.9 million At September 30 2010 the fair value

of our long-term debt was estimated to be approximately $21.6 million compared to carrying value of $20.5 million

NOTE 5ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The components of accounts receivable under long-term contracts are as follows in thousands

September30 2011

U.S Government Contracts

Amounts billed

Recoverable costs and accrued
profits on progress completed-not billed

Commercial Customers

Amounts billed

Recoverable costs and accrued
profits on progress completed-not billed

Less unbilled amounts not currently duecommercial customers

64672

50097

114769

24384

88667

113051

227820

23700

204120

50925

53569

104494

31753

91186

122939

227433

28080

199353

portion of recoverable costs and accrued profits on progress completed is billable under
progress or milestone payment provisions

of the

related contracts The remainder of these amounts is billable upon delivery of products or furnishing of services with an immaterial amount

subject to retainage provisions of the contracts It is anticipated that we will bill and collect substantially the entire unbilled portion of receivables

identified as current assets under progress billing provisions of the contracts or upon completion of milestones and/or acceptance by the

customers during fiscal 2012 The amount classified as not currently due is an estimate of the amount of long-term contract accounts receivable

that will not be collected within one year from September 30 2011 under transportation systems contracts in the U.S Australia and the U.K The

non-current balance at September 30 2010 represented non-current amounts due from customers in the same countries and defense systems

contract in Canada

NOTE 6INVENTORIES

Significant components of inventories are as follows

September30 2011

Work in process and inventoried costs under long-term contracts

Customer advances

Materials and purchased parts

70225

34582

1086

36729

71696

41575

2699

32820

2010

2010

in thousands
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At September 30 2011 work in process
and inventoried costs under long-term contracts includes approximately $1.2 million in costs incurred

outside the scope
of work or in advance of contract award compared to $0.1 million as of September 30 2010 We believe it is probable

that we will recover these costs plus profit margin under contract change orders or awards within the next year

Costs we incur for certain government contracts include general and administrative costs as allowed by government cost accounting standards

The amounts remaining in inventory at September 30 2011 and 2010 were $6.2 million and $4.2 million respectively

NOTE 7PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Significant components of property plant and equipment are as follows

September30 2011 2010

in thousands

Land and land improvements 15963 15821

Buildings and improvements
43416 42754

Machinery and other equipment 84953 821 29

Leasehold improvements 5707 4829

Accumulated depreciation and amortization 101572 98064

48467 47469

Our provisions for depreciation of plant and equipment and amortization of leasehold improvements amounted to $7.7 million $7.6 million and

$9.2 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Generally we use straight-line methods for real property over estimated useful lives ranging

from 15 to 39 years or the term of the underlying lease for leasehold improvements We use accelerated methods declining balance and sum-

of-the-years-digits for machinery and equipment over estimated useful lives ranging from to 10 years

NOTE 8GOODWILL AND PURCHASED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the two years
ended September 30 2011 are as follows

Transportation Mission Support

Systems Defense Systems Services Total

in thousands

Balances at October 2009 7438 15260 36735 59433

Goodwill acquired during the
year 4767 4767

Foreign currency exchange rate changes 115 57 58
Balances at September 30 2010 7323 20084 36735 64142

Goodwill acquired during the year
435 81698 82133

Foreign currency exchange rate changes 54 34 80

Balances at September 30 2011 7269 20653 118433 146355
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Conhnued

NOTE 8GOODWILL AND PURCHASED INTANGIBLE ASSETS Continued

Purchased Intangible Assets The table below summarizes our purchased intangible assets in thousands

September 30 201

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount

70159 27921 42238

85517 31378 54139

The table below shows our expected amortization for purchased intangibles as of September 30 201 for each of the next five years in

thousands

Mission

Our purchased intangible assets are subject to amortization and we use combination of straight-line and accelerated methods based on the

expected cash flows from the assets over weighted average period oF years Total amortization expense for 2011 2010 and 2009 was

$14.7 million $6.8 million and $6.4 million respectively

Contract and program intangibles

In-process research development

Other purchased intangibles

Total

798

14560 3457

798

11103

September 30 20

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount

38560 15170 23390

1671 167

2787 1553 234

43018 16723 26295

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Thereafter

Transportation Defense Support

Systems Systems Services Total

1692 1138 11980 14810

1651 1020 9557 12228

1651 593 7066 9310

1470 209 4810 6489

1380 66 2356 3802

3796 3704 7500

11640 3026 39473 54139
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NOTE 9FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Long-term debt consists of the following

September30 2011 2010

Unsecured notes payable to group
of insurance companies in thousands

with annual principal payments of $4000000 due in November

Interest at 6.31% is payable semiannually in November and May 12000 16000

Mortgage note from U.K financial institution with quarterly

installments of principal and interest at 6.48% 3918 4494

15918 20494

Less current portion 4541 4545
11377 15949

Maturities of long-term debt for each of the five
years in the period ending September 30 2016 are as follows 2012 $4.5 million 2013

$4.5 million 2014 $4.5 million 2015 $0.5 million 2016 $0.5 million

Interest paid amounted to $1.1 million $1.4 million and $1.8 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

The terms of the notes payable include provisions that require and/or limit among other financial ratios and measurements the permitted levels

of debt and tangible net worth and
coverage

of fixed charges At September 30 2011 this agreement leaves consolidated retained earnings

of $280 million available for the payment of dividends to shareholders purchases of our common stock and other charges to shareholders

equity To date there have been no covenant violations

We maintain short-term borrowing arrangements in New Zealand and Australia totaling $0.5 million New Zealand dollars equivalent to

approximately $0.4 million and $10 million Australian dollars equivalent to approximately $9.7 million to help meet the short-term working

capital requirements of our subsidiaries in those countries At September 30 2011 no amounts were outstanding under these borrowing

arrangements

We have committed three-year revolving credit agreement with group of financial institutions in the amount of $150 million expiring in

December 2012 Commitment fees associated with this financing arrangement are 0.25% of the unutilized balance per annum As of September

30 2011 there were no borrowings under this agreement however there were letters of credit outstanding under the agreement totaling $84.4

million which reduce the available line of credit to $65.6 million

As of September 30 2011 including the $84.4 million above we had letters of credit and bank guarantees outstanding totaling $977 million

which guarantee either our performance or customer advances under certain contracts In addition we had financial letters of credit outstanding

totaling $6.9 million as of September 30 2011 which primarily guarantee our payment of certain self-insured liabilities We have never had

drawing on letter of credit instrument nor are any anticipated therefore we estimate the fair value of these instruments to be zero

Our self-insurance arrangements are limited to certain workers compensation plans automobile liability and product liability
claims Under

these arrangements we self-insure only up to the amount of specified deductible for each claim Self-insurance liabilities included in other

current liabilities on the balance sheet amounted to $8.4 million and $8.2 million as of September 30 2011 and 2010 respectively
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Contirwed

NOTE 10COMMITMENTS

We lease certain office manufacturing and warehouse space vehicles and other office equipment under noncancelable operating leases

expiring in various years through 2019 These leases some of which may be renewed for periods up to 10 years generally require us to pay all

maintenance insurance and property taxes Several leases are subject to periodic adlustment based on price indices or cost increases Rental

expense net of sublease income of $0.6 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 for all operating leases amounted to $9.1 million $8.0 million and

$6.6 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Future minimum payments net of minimum sublease income under noncancelable operating leases with initial terms of one year or more consist

of the following at September 30 2011 in thousands

2012 8244

2013 6244

2014 4679

2015 3008

2016 1798

Thereafter 5365

29338

NOTE 11INCOME TAXES

Significant components
of the provision for income taxes are as follows

Years ended September 30 2011 2010 2009

in thousands

Current

Federal 1726 16362 11417

State 1036 4611 3691

Foreign 19436 15268 11090

Total current 22198 36241 26198

Deferred

Federal 8582 268 2516

State 960 69 420

Foreign 829 1293 420

Total deferred provision benefit 10371 956 3356

Total income tax expense 32569 35285 29554

We calculate deferred tax assets and liabilities based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and

measure them using the enacted tax rates and laws that we expect will be in effect when the differences reverse
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Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows

September30 2011 2010

in thousands

Deferred tax assets

Accrued employee benefits 9303 911

Acquired net operating losses 1432

Long-term contracts and inventory valuation reductions 11142 9612

Allowances for loss contingencies 6894 61 44

Deferred compensation 3444 3246

Book over tax depreciation 1436 1964

Adjustment to pension liability
15137 13204

California research and development credit carryforward 4363 4762

Other 3539 1919

Subtotal 56690 49963

Valuation allowance 4363 4762

Deferred tax assets 52327 45201

Deferred tax liabilities

Amortization of goodwill and intangibles 12113 1770

Deferred revenue 11702

Prepaid expenses
2472 2080

State taxes 800 850

Other 144 4106

Deferred tax liabilities 27231 8806

Net deferred tax asset 25096 36395

In 2011 we obtained approval from the Internal Revenue Service to change our tax accounting method for recording service contract revenue

As result deferred tax liabilities increased by $11.7 million in 2011

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S federal statutory tax rate to income tax expense is as follows

Years ended September 30 2011 2010 2009

in thousands

Tax at federal statutory rate 41176 37072 29834

State income taxes net of federal tax effect 1297 3042 2672

Nondeductible expenses
480 324 408

Change in reserve accrued for tax contingencies 625 64 777

Tax effect from foreign earnings repatriation 3063

Tax effect from foreign subsidiaries 5347 221 2523

Federal RD credits generated in the current year 2696 491 993

Reinstatement of federal RD credit 1406 794

Other 1560 809 1336

32569 35285 29554
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Con nue

NOTE 11INCOME TAXES Continued

We are subject to ongoing audits from various taxing authorities in the jurisdictions in which we do business As of September 30 2011 our

open tax years in significant jurisdictions include 2006-2010 in the U.K and New Zealand and 2008-2010 in the U.S We believe we have

adequately provided for uncertain tax issues we have not yet resolved with federal state and foreign tax authorities Although not more likely

than not the most adverse resolution of these issues could result in additional charges to earnings in future periods Based upon consideration

of all relevant facts and circumstances we do not believe the ultimate resolution of uncertain tax issues for all open tax periods will have

materially adverse effect upon our results of operations or financial condition

We have recorded liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits related to permanent and temporary tax adjustments which totaled $4.3 million at

September 30 2011 and $3.2 million at September 30 2010 The net changes in the
liability were as follows

Years ended September 30 2011 2010

in thousands

Balance at October 3168 4809

Decrease related to tax positions in prior years

Recognition of benefits from expiration of statutes 1172 1747
Tax positions related to the current year 1797 06

Tax positions related to tax adjustments recorded in

our acquistion of Abraxas 484

Balance at September30 4277 3168

At September 30 2011 the amount of unrecognized tax benefits from
permanent tax adjustments that if recognized would affect the effective

rate was $4.3 million Over the next year we do not expect significant increase or decrease in the unrecognized tax benefits recorded as of

September 30 2011 The amount of net interest and penalties recognized as component of income tax expense during 2011 2010 and 2009

was not material Interest and penalties accrued at September 30 2011 and 2010 amounted to $0.2 million and $0.2 million respectively

bringing the total
liability

for uncertain tax issues to $4.5 million and $3.4 million as of September 30 2011 and 2010 respectively

We made income tax payments net of refunds totaling $42.1 million $30.0 million and $28.8 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Income before income taxes includes the following components

Years ended September 30 2011 2010 2009

in thousands

United States 44955 60451 45329

Foreign 72692 45470 399

Total 117647 105921 85240

We evaluate our capital requirements in our foreign subsidiaries on an annual basis to determine what level of capital is needed for the

long-term operations of the businesses We provide U.S taxes on the amount of capital that is determined to be in excess of the long-term

requirements of the business and is therefore available for distribution Undistributed earnings of all our foreign subsidiaries amounted to

approximately $142.0 million at September 30 2011 We consider those earnings to be indefinitely reinvested and accordingly we have

not provided for U.S federal and state income taxes thereon and have determined that no amounts of undistributed earnings are available

for distribution Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise we would be subject to both U.S income taxes and

withholding taxes payable to the foreign countries but would also be able to offset unrecognized foreign tax credit carryforwards It is not

practicable for us to determine the total amount of unrecognized deferred U.S income tax liability
because of the complexities associated with

its hypothetical calculation
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NOTE 12DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

We utilize derivative and nonderivative financial instruments such as foreign currency forwards and options and foreign currency debt

obligations to manage our exposure
to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates We do not use any derivative financial instruments for

trading or other speculative purposes
The

purpose
of our foreign currency hedging activities is to fix the dollar value of specific commitments

investments payments
to foreign vendors and the value of foreign currency denominated receipts from our customers We have derivative

instruments that hedge our exposure to the variability of certain cash flows through August 2015 At September 30 2011 and 2010 we had

foreign exchange contracts with notional value of $290.4 million and $232.5 million outstanding respectively

We classify the fair value of all derivative contracts as other current or noncurrent assets or liabilities depending on the realized and unrealized

gain or loss position of the hedged contract at the balance sheet date The cash flows from derivatives treated as hedges are classified in the

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in the same category as the item being hedged

The amount of gains and losses from derivative instruments and hedging activities classified as not highly effective did not have material

impact on the results of operations for the years ended September 30 2011 2010 and 2009 There are no significant credit risks related to

contingent features in our derivative agreements and the amount of estimated unrealized net gains from cash flow hedges which are expected

to be reclassified to earnings in the next twelve months is $2.6 million net of income taxes

NOTE 13PENSION PROFIT SHARING AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS

Deferred compensation includes amounts due under an arrangement in which participating members of management may elect to defer

receiving payment for portion of their compensation minimum of five years or until periods after their respective retirements We accrue

interest on deferred compensation at market rates until such time as it is paid in full We adjust the interest rate semi-annually it was 25% at

September 30 2011

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

We have profit sharing and other defined contribution retirement plans that provide benefits for most U.S employees Certain of these plans

require the company match portion of eligible employee contributions up to specified limits These plans also allow for additional company

contributions at the discretion of the Board of Directors In 2011 2010 and 2009 more than half of our contributions to these plans were

discretionary contributions Effective October 2010 we adopted new defined contribution plan for European employees that were formerly

eligible for the European defined benefit plan described below Under this plan the company matches portion of the eligible employee

contributions up to limits specified in the plan Company contributions to defined contribution plans aggregated $18.4 million $15.9 million and

$15.4 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

Certain employees in the U.S are covered by noncontributory defined benefit pension plan for which benefits were frozen as of December 31

2006 curtailment The effect of the U.S plan curtailment is that no new benefits have been accrued after that date Approximately one-half

of our European employees are covered by contributory defined benefit pension plan for which benefits were frozen as of September 30

2010 Although the effect of the European plan curtailment is that no new benefits will accrue after September 30 2010 the plan is final pay

plan which means that benefits will be adjusted for increases in the salaries of participants until their retirement or departure from the company

U.S and European employees hired subsequent to the dates of the curtailment of the respective plans are not eligible far participation in the

defined benefit plans In 2010 we recorded loss on the curtailment of the European plan of $0.7 million which is reflected in the following

disclosures

Our funding policy for the defined benefit pension plans provides that contributions will be at least equal to the minimum amounts mandated

by statutory requirements Based on our known requirements for the U.S and U.K plans as of September 30 2011 we expect
to make

contributions of approximately $4.3 million in 2012 September 30 is used as the measurement date for these plans

The unrecognized amounts recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income loss will be subsequently recognized as net periodic

pension cost consistent with our historical accounting policy for amortizing those amounts We will
recognize actuarial gains

and losses that

arise in future periods and are not recognized as net periodic pension cost in those periods as increases or decreases in other comprehensive

income net of tax in the period they arise We adjust actuarial gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income loss as they are
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Continued

NOTE 13PENSION PROFIT SHARING AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS Continued

subsequently recognized as component of net periodic pension cost The unrecognized actuarial gain or loss included in accumulated other

comprehensive income loss at September 30 2011 and expected to be recognized in net pension cost during fiscal 2012 is loss of $1.4

million $0.9 million net of income tax benefits No plan assets are expected to be returned to us in 2012

The projected benefit obligation accumulated benefit obligation ABO and fair value of plan assets for the defined benefit pension plans in

which the ABO was in excess of the fair value of plan assets were as follows in thousands

September 30

Projected benefit obligation

Accumulated benefit obligation

Fair value of plan assets

The following table sets forth changes in the projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets and the funded status for these defined

benefit plans

September 30

Change in benefit obligations

Net benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 64622

Service cost 3972

Interest cost 9034

Actuarial gain loss 8269

Curtailments 226

Participant contributions 121

Gross benefits paid

Foreign currency exchange rate changes

Net benefit obligation at the end of the
year

__________________________________________

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Participant contributions

Gross benefits paid

Administrative expenses

Foreign currency exchange rate changes

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year

Unfunded status of the plans

Unrecognized net actuarial loss

Net amount recognized

Amounts recognized in Accumulated OCI

Liability adjustment to OCI

Deferred tax asset

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

2011 2010

182542

177406

144319

180711

75995

143696

2011 2010

in thousands

180711

521

9233

1984

5236
703

182542

5562

1060

180711

143696 132408

1501 13614

5352 3374

1210

5236 5562

470 555

524 793

144319 143696

38223 37015

43529 37727

5306 712

43529 37727

15137 13204

28392 24523
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The components of net periodic pension cost were as follows in thousands

Years ended September 30 2011 2010 2009

Service cost 521 3972 2521

Interest cost 9233 9034 9679

Expected return on plan assets 9979 9334 9569

Amortization of actuarial loss 832 850

Curtailment charge
689

Administrative expenses
85 92 00

Net pension cost 692 5303 2731

Years ended September 30 201 2010 2009

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit

obligation at September 30

Discount rate 5.2% 5.2% 5.6%

Rate of compensation increase 4.3% 4.3% 4.5%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic

benefit cost for the years
ended September 30

Discount rate 5.2% 5.6% 73t/0

Expected return on plan assets 7.0% 7.2% 78%

Rate of compensation increase 4.3% 4.5% 4.8%

The long-term rate of return assumption represents the expected average rate of earnings on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for

the benefits included in the benefit obligations That assumption is determined based on number of factors including historical market index

returns the anticipated long-term asset allocation of the plans historical plan return data plan expenses
and the potential to outperform market

index returns

We have the responsibility to formulate the investment policies and strategies for the plans assets Our overall policies and strategies include

maintain the highest possible return commensurate with the level of assumed risk and preserve benefit security for the plans participants

We do not direct the day-to-day operations and selection process of individual securities and investments and accordingly we have retained

the professional services of investment management organizations to fulfill those tasks The investment management organizations have

investment discretion over the assets placed under their management We provide each investment manager with specific investment guidelines

by asset class

The target ranges for each major category of the plans assets at September 30 2011 are as follows

Asset Category
Allocation Range

Equity securities 40% to 75%

Debt securities 25% to 60%

Real estate and cash 0% to 10%
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Continue

NOTE 13PENSION PROFIT SHARING AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS Continued

Our defined benefit pension plans invest in cash and cash equivalents equity securities fixed income securities pooled separate accounts and

common collective trusts The following tables present the fair value of the assets of our defined benefit pension plans by asset category and their

level within the fair value hierarchy in thousands See Note for description of each level within the fair value hierarchy All assets classified

as Level or Level in the table below are invested in pooled separate accounts or common collective trusts which do not have publicly

quoted prices The fair value of the pooled separate accounts and common collective trusts are determined based on the net asset value of the

underlying investments The fair value of the underlying investments held by the pooled separate accounts and common collective trusts other

than real estate investments is generally based upon quoted prices in active markets The fair value of the underlying investments comprised

of real estate properties is determined through an appraisal process which uses valuation methodologies including comparisons to similar real

estate and discounting of income streams For investments in the pooled separate accounts and common collective trusts categorized as Level

below there are no restrictions on ability of our benefit plans to sell these investments The investments in pooled separate accounts categorized

as Level below may be restricted as to the ability of our benefit plans to sell these investments based upon the availability of cash in the

investment holdings at any point in time

Cash and cash equivalents

Equity

U.S equity securities

U.K equity securities

Other foreign equity securities

Fixed Income

U.S treasury securities

U.K treasury securities

Corporate debt securities

Real Estate

Total

Cash and cash equivalents

Equity

U.S equity securities

U.K equity securities

Other foreign equity securities

Fixed Income

U.S treasury securities

U.K treasury securities

Corporate debt securities

Real Estate

Total

September 30 2011

Level Level Level Total

340 2004 2344

4811 34601 39412

29936 1312 31248

15793 6651 22444

14679 14679

5948 5948

2955 19877 386 23218

5026 5026

59783 79124 5412 144319

September 30 2010

Level Level Level Total

566 1461 2027

4586 37170 41756

28929 1651 30580

15412 7213 22625

15509 15509

5659 5659

2818 18651 552 22021

3519 3519

57970 81655 4071 143696
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The following table presents the changes in the fair value of plan assets categorized as Level in the preceding table in thousands

Balance as of October 2009

Realized and unrealized gains net

Purchases sales and settlements net

Balance as of September 30 2010

Realized and unrealized gains net

Purchases sales and settlements net

Balance as of September 30 2011

The pension plans held no positions in Cubic Corporation common stock as of September 30 2011 and 2010

We expect the following pension benefit payments which reflect expected future service as appropriate to be paid in thousands

2012 6658

2013 6871

2014 7244

2015 7679

2016 7984

2017-2021 47543

NOTE 14OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

We present other comprehensive income OCI and its components in the statement of changes in shareholders equity Accumulated OCl loss

consisted of the following

September 30 2011

Adjustment to pension liability

Foreign currency translation

Net unrealized losses gains from cash flow hedges

28392

9121

4023

23294

24523

13183

1595

9745

The adjustment to the pension liability
is shown net of tax benefit of $15.1 million and $13.2 million at September 30 2011 and 2010

respectively Deferred income taxes are not recognized for translation-related temporary differences 0f foreign subsidiaries whose undistributed

earnings are considered to be permanently invested

Pooled Separate

Accounts

3325

47

699

4071

633

708

5412

2010

in thousands

RA 2011 ANN 67



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Con nue cJ

NOTE 15LEGAL MATTERS

In 1998 the Ministry of Defense for the Armed Forces of the Islamic Republic of Iran obtained United States District Court judgment enforcing

an arbitration award in its favor against us of $2.8 million plus costs and interest related to contract awarded to us by Iran in 1977 Both

parties appealed to the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals and we are awaiting their decision Several potential lienors of Irans judgment have filed

liens but have not obtained valid court orders enforcing the liens We are not aware whether any such claimants against Irans judgment have

received Terrorism Risk Insurance Act funds which would make their claims unenforceable Under 1979 Presidential executive order all

transactions by United States citizens with Iran are prohibited Therefore even if Iron were to prevail in the 9th Circuit litigation it is unlikely that

we would be permitted to pay any amount to Iran Payments to valid lienors could potentially be enforced therefore in previous year we

recorded
liability

for the amount of the judgment and are continuing to accrue interest

In November 2011 we received claim from public transit authority customer which alleges that the authority incurred loss of transit

revenue due to the inappropriate and allegedly illegal actions of one of our former employees who is currently in police custody This individual

was employed to work on contract we acquired in business combination in 2009 and had allegedly been committing these illegal acts

from almost two years prior to our acquisition of the contract until his arrest in May 2011 The transit system was designed and installed by

company unrelated to us The transit authority has preliminarily estimated its loss of revenue to be approximately $5 million The claim seeks

recoupment from us and possibly from the company from which we acquired the contract of the alleged lost revenue and an unspecified

amount of fees and damages which we are currently unable to estimate We do not yet have sufficient information to assess the merits or value

of the claim however insurance may cover all or portion of
any

losses we could ultimately incur for this matter No liability
for this claim has

been recorded as of September 30 2011

We are not party to any other material pending proceedings and we consider all other matters to be ordinary proceedings incidental to the

business We believe the outcome of these proceedings and the proceedings described above will not have materially adverse effect on our

financial position

NOTE 16BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

We have three primary business segments Cubic Transportation Systems CTS Cubic Defense Systems CDS and Mission Support Services

MSS CTS designs produces installs and services electronic revenue collection systems for mass transit projects including railways and

buses CDS performs work under U.S and foreign government contracts relating to electronic defense systems and equipment Products include

customized military range instrumentation laser based training systems virtual simulation systems communications products including datalinks

power amplifiers avionics systems multi-band communication tracking devices and cross domain hardware solutions to address multi-level

security requirements MSS provides training operations intelligence maintenance technical and other services to the U.S Government and

allied nations

We evaluate performance and allocate resources based on total segment operating profit or loss The accounting policies of the reportable

segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies Intersegment sales and transfers are immaterial and

are eliminated in consolidation

Our reportable segments are business units that offer different products and services and are each managed separately Operating results for

each segment ore reported separately to senior corporate management to make decisions as to the allocation of corporate resources and to

assess performance
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Business segment financial data is as follows

Years ended September 30 201 2010 2009

in millions

Sales

Transportation Systems 415.4 386.0 303.4

Defense Systems 392.7 362.8 285.4

Mission Support Services 475.8 443.3 424.4

Other 1.3 2.1 3.5

Total sales $1285.2 1194.2 1016.7

Operating income

Transportation Systems 56.0 54.7 44.1

Defense Systems 37.9 28.7 19.0

Mission Support Services 24.0 26.5 27.9

Unallocated corporate expenses and other 5.6 4.4 6.3
Total operating income 112.3 105.5 84.7

Assets

Transportation Systems 171.5 164.5 172.6

Defense
Systems 144.5 153.9 157.2

Mission Support Services 211.6 24.0 142.1

Corporate and other 431.2 422.0 284.4

Total assets 958.8 864.4 756.3

Depreciation and amortization

Transportation Systems 3.6 3.5 2.4

Defense Systems 5.4 4.8 6.0

Mission Support Services 12.3 5.2 6.2

Corporate and other 1.0 1.0 1.0

Total depreciation and amortization 22.3 14.5 15.6

Expenditures for long-lived assets

Transportation Systems 2.2 1.8 .2

Defense Systems 5.5 4.4 3.3

Mission Support Services 0.3 0.3

Corporate and other 0.7 0.4 0.8

Total expenditures for long-lived assets 8.7 6.9 5.3
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Conhnved

NOTE 16BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION Continued

In 2011 and 2010 we recorded changes in estimates which increased the profit recognized on transportation systems contract primarily due

to revisions in the estimated total costs to be incurred to complete the contract As result both sales and operating income increased by $3.9

million in 2011 and both sales and operating income increased by $4.5 million in 2010 In 2011 we also recorded changes in estimate which

increased profit recognized on defense systems contract primarily due to changes in the estimated total contract costs As result both sales

and operating income increased in 2011 by $4.9 million

Years ended September 30 2011

Geographic Information

Sales

United States

United Kingdom

Canada

Australia

Middle East

Far East

Other

Total sales

705.7

266.0

26.5

115.0

35.5

84.6

51.9

1285.2

774.3 666.2

216.3 179.2

8.1 18.5

60.6 39.9

26.9 19.3

81.6 61.5

___________
32.1

__________ $__1016.7

Sales are attributed to countries or regions based on the location of customers

MSS and CDS segment sales include $726.8 million $685.0 million and $592.1 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively of sales to U.S

government agencies Transportation systems sales in 2011 included $155.7 million of sales to TfL No other customer accounts for 10% or

more of our revenues for any periods presented

2010

in millions

2009

Long-lived assets net

United States

United Kingdom

Other foreign countries

Total long-lived assets net

26.4

1194.2

40.7

9.1

41.0

9.5

43.7

10.3

2.9 2.2 1.9

52.7 52.7 55.9
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NOTE 17SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS UNAUDITED

The following is summary of our quarterly results of operations for the years ended September 30 2011 and 2010

Quarter Ended

December 31 March 31 June 30 September 30

in thousands except per share data

Fiscal 2011

Net sales 284420 333968 319905 346910

Operating income 27199 28045 26787 30304

Net income attributable to Cubic 19908 19946 20814 24100

Net income per share 0.74 0.75 0.78 0.90

Fiscal 2010

Netsales 250684 264559 331240 347706

Operating income 20374 26132 32636 26383

NetincomeattributabletoCubic 13663 21019 22702 13252

Net income per
share 0.51 0.79 0.85 0.49

NOTE 18 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

We have completed an evaluation of all subsequent events through the issuance date of these consolidated financial statements and concluded

no subsequent events have occurred that require recognition or disclosure
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF CUBIC CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cubic Corporation as of September 30 2011 and 2010 and the related

consolidated statements of income changes in shareholders equity and changes in cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

September 30 2011 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material
respects

the consolidated financial position of Cubic

Corporation at September 30 2011 and 2010 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended September 30 2011 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company changed its method of accounting for revenue recognition with the

adoption of amendments to the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification resulting from Accounting Standards

Update No 2010-13 Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements and Accounting Standards Update No 201 0-14 Certain Revenue

Arrangements That Include Software Elements both adopted effective October 2009

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Cubic

Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of September 30 2011 based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated November 21 2011

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

San Diego California

November 21 2011
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting For the company In order to evaluate the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act we conducted an assessment

including testing using the criteria in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission COSO Our system of internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes

in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Based on our assessment we concluded that we maintained in all material respects effective internal control over Financial reporting as

of September 30 2011 based on criteria in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by COSO Our internal control over financial

reporting as of September 30 2011 has been audited by Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public accounting Firm as stated in their

report which follows

WalterJ Zoble

Chairman of the Board

President and Chief Executive Officer

William Boyle Mark Harrison

Senior Vice President and Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer Corporate Controller
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF CUBIC CORPORATION

We have audited Cubic Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of September 30 2011 based on criteria established in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO

criteria Cubic Corporations management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment

of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over

Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was

maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk

that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for

our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability

of financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance

that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized Gcquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or

that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Cubic Corporation maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30

2011 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the consolidated

balance sheets of Cubic Corporation as of September 30 2011 and 2010 and the related statements of income changes in shareholders

equity and changes in cash flows for each of the three
years

in the period ended September 30 2011 of Cubic Corporation
and our report

dated November 21 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

u.7LLP
San Diego California

November 21 2011
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

DIRECTORS OFFICERS OFFICE OF THE CEO

Walter Zable Walter Zable Walter Zable

Director
Chairman of the Board President and Chairman of the Board

Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer President and Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer

Executive Committee
Walter Zable Walter Zable
Vice Chairman Vice President Vice Chairman Vice President

Walter Zable Chairman of Transportation Systems

Director William Boyle
Vice Chairman Vice President William Boyle Senior Vice President and

Chairman of Transportation Systems
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Executive Committee
Chief Financial Officer

Bruce Blakley
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Independent Director Vice President and Corporate Controller

Managing Partner in San Diego Office of Principal Accounting Officer

PricewaterhouseCoopers Retired

Chair Audit and Compliance Committee
William Hoese

Executive Compensation Committee
Vice President Corporate Secretary

General Counsel

William Boyle
Director Bernard Kulchin

Senior Vice President and Vice President Human Resources

Chief Financial Officer

Executive Committee
John Minteer

Vice President Information Technologies

Edwin Guiles

Independent Director John Thomas

Executive Vice President of Corporate
Vice President Finance and

Development with Sempra Energy Retired Corporate Development

Audit and Compliance Committee
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Audit and Compliance Committee
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Committee Executive Committee

John Warner Jr

Independent Director

Executive Vice President and

Director Science Applications International

Corporation Retired

Audit and Compliance Committee

Chair Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee
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CORPORATE IN FORMATION AND REGIONAL OFFICES

CUBIC TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS Canada Regional Office UK/EUROPEAN OPERATIONS
201 Drumlin Circle Unit UK/European Headquarters

Worldwide Headquarters
Concord Ontario 14K 3E7 Cubic Transportation Systems Limited

Cubic Transportation Systems Inc
Canada AFC House

5650 Kearny Mesa Road
-905-738-9505 Honeycrock Lane

San Diego CA 92111
Salfords Redhill Surrey RH1 5LA

1-858-268-3100 AUSTRALASIA OPERATIONS United Kingdom
Walter Zable

Australasia Headquarters 44-1737-782200
Chairman

Cubic Transportation Systems Australia Pty Limited Stephen Shewmaker
Stephen Shewmaker

Level 23 219-227 Elizabeth Street Chairman
President

Sydney NSW 2000 Australia Roger Crow
David Lapczynski 61-2-9275-9900 Managing Director

Senior Vice President Services
Tom Walker

James Edwards
Managing Director CTS Nordic AB

Senior Vice President Genera Counsel
Västra Hindbyvagen 18

Secretary Australia Regional Offices 214 58 Malmö
Mall Cole

Brisbane Sweden
Senior Vice President Strategy Business

level 333 Adelaide Street 46-40-94-21-00
Development

Brisbane Queensland 4000 Australia Joe McCaffrey
Mm Wei 61 -7-3232-1 000 Managing Director

Vice President Financial Operations

Perth Cubic Transportation Systems
Worldwide Manufacturing Center

Puccini Court Stirling Deutschland GmbH
1308 South Washington Street WA 6021 Australia Ferdinandstr29-33

TullahomaTN 37388
61-8-9240-0000 20095 Hamburg

1-931-455-8524
Germany

John Madeiros
49-40-300-863-690

Vice President Marcus Plaits

Procurement/Manufacturing
Managing Director

NORTH AMERICA OPERATIONS
Cubic Transportation Systems

5650 Kearny Mesa Road
Deutschland GmbH

San Diego CA 92111
Westhafenplatz

-858-268-3100
6032Z Frankfurt

Richard Wunderle
Germany

Senior Vice President Genera Manager 49-69-710-456-462

U.S Regional Offices INDIA OPERATIONS
New York

Cubic Transportation Systems India Pyt
245 West 17th Street

Ltd
8th Floor

H-08 Level Module
New York NY 10011 lT Phoenix Infoparks Pvt Ltd

1-212-255-1810
Special Economic Zone

HITEC City Gachibowli

Washington D.C
Hyderabad India

Crystal Gateway 91-40-44605 151

1225 South Clark Street
Pradip Mistry

Suite 601
Chairman

Arlington VA
Kishan Kamojjhala

-703-415-1 600
Managing Director

Chicago
205 West Wacker Suite 1800

Chicago IL 60606

1-312-265-3200

Concord CA
1800 utter Street

Concord CA 94520

1-925-686-8200
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CUBIC DEFENSE SYSTEMS

Headquarters
9333 Balboa Avenue

San Diego CA 92123

1-858-277-6780

Bradley Feldmann

President

Thomas Echols

Senior Vice President

Business Operations Controller

Raymond Barker

Executive Vice President

Michael Creighton

Senior Vice President

Business Development

Simulation Systems Division

2001 Oak Ridge Road Suite 100

Orlando FL 32809-3803

1-407-859-7410

Theresa Kohl

Vice President General Manager

Cubic Cyber Solutions

1950 Old Gallows Rd Suite 250

Vienna VA 22182

1-703-821-1516

Steven Frenz

Vice President

Cyber Security

Cubic Global Tracking Solutions

1919 Gallows Road Suite 900

ViennaVA 22182

1-850-872-7099

Mary Ann Wagner
President

Cubic Field Services Canada Ltd

1LSC Building 659

CFB Wainwright

Denwood Alberta Canada lOB BO

1-780-842-4180

Cornelius Peter Hofman

Director Field Site Wainwright

Cubic Defense New Zealand Ltd

P.O Box 6008

Wellesley Street

Mt Eden Auckland 1141 New Zealand

1-64-9-379-0360

Michael Toxopeus

General Manager

Cubic Manufacturing Solutions

Private Misiones 1120
Parque Industrial Misiones

Tijuana Baja California

Mexico C.P 22425

52-664-621-5181

Reiny Giesecke

Director Business Development

Washington

Washington D.C

Crystal Gateway Two Suite 601

1225 Clark Street

Arlington VA 22202

1-703-45-1600

Keith Kellogg Jr

Senior Vice PresidenI

Washington Operations

United Kingdom
AWES EXCON Building

Westdown Camp
Tilshead

Salisbury Wiltshire SP3 4RS

United Kingdom

44-0-1980-621383

Tony Field

Site Manager

Australia

Cubic Defense Australia Pty Ltd

P.O Box 811

3/16 Casey Street

Aitkenvale Queensland 4814

61-7-4775-188

Mark Horn

General Manager

MISSION SUPPORT SERVICES

Headquarters
400 Union Avenue SE
Olympia WA 98503

1-360-493-6275

Jimmie Balentine

President

Ruth Van Sickle

Executive Vice President

Operations Support Division

One Enterprise Parkway Suite 100

Hampton VA 23666

1-757-722-0717

Richard Bristow

Vice President Genera Manager

Worldwide Technical Services Division

2280 Historic Decatur Road Suite 200

San Diego CA 92106

1-619-523-0848

Kevin Hayes
Vice President Genera Manager

Omega Training and Education Division

7201 Moon Road

Columbus GA 31909

1-706-569-9100

Caryl Glenn Marsh

Vice President General Manager

JRTC Mission Support

P.O Box 3904

Fort Polk LA 71459

1-337-531-1858

William David

Vice President Program Manager

Abraxas

Abraxas Corporation

12801 Worldgate Drive Suite 800

Herndon VA 20170

1-703-821-8930

Rod Smith

President

Information Operations Division

2280 Historic Decatur Road Suite 200

San Diego CA 92106

1-619-523-0848

Alan Sargeant

Vice President General Manager

Defense Modernization Division

5695 King Centre Drive Suite 201

Kingstowne VA 22315

1-703-924-3050

Larry Smith

Vice President General Manager
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

LISTING INFORMATION FOR REPORTS

SHAREHOLDERS
New York Stock Exchange NYSE Cubic will furnish its 2011 Annual Report

Web Site www.cubic.com to shareholders its annual SEC Form 10-K

SYMBOL excluding exhibits and ethics policies

Click on Investor Relations for
without charge to shareholders upon their

CUB
Corporate governance

information
written request by mail or e-mail

SHAREHOLDERS OF RECORD AT Company ethics policies

MAILING ADDRESS
SEPTEMBER 30 2011 Contact information

Annual reports Cubic Corporation
823

Committee Charters
Diane Dyer

Director Investor Relations

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER Investor Line 858 505-2222
9333 Balboa Avenue

AGENT
E-mail investor.relations@cubic.com

San Diego California 92123

American Stock Transfer and Trust Company

Brooklyn New York ANNUAL MEETING EMAIL ADDRESS

The American Stock Transfer and Trust The 2012 Annual Meeting will be held investor.relations@cubic.com

Company may be contacted through its toll
in the main conference room at Cubics

free number web site or e-mail
headquarters

Shareholder services

800 937-5449 LOCATION
www.amstock.com

Cubic Corporation
info@amstock.com

9333 Balboa Avenue

San Diego California 92123

AUDITORS

Ernst Young LLP DATE AND TIME

February 28 2012

1130 a.m Pacific Standard Time

Shareholders of record on January 2012

are being sent the required Notice Access

letter for the Annual Meeting
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PEER GROUP CONSTITUENTS

PEER GROUP CONSTITUENTS See Stock Performance Graph on the inside cover

The defense homeland security and space index named SPADE is made up of the following companies as of September 30 2011

AAR Corporation EMS Technologies Moog

AeroVironment Esterline Technologies NCI

Alliantlechsystems FLIR Systems Northrop Grumman

American Science Engineering Force Protection Orbital Sciences Corporation

Applied Signal Technology GenCorp Oshkosh Corporation

Ball Corporation General Dynamics OSI Systems

Boeing GeoEye Precision Castparts

CACI Goodrich Corporation Raytheon

Ceradyne Harris Corporation Rockwell Collins

Cogent Herley Industries SAIC

Computer Sciences Corporation Honeywell International SRA lnternotional

Comtech Telecommunications Integral Systems Taser International

Corporation
ITT Corporation Teledyne Technologies

Cubic Corporation
1-1 Identity Solutions Textron Inc

DigitolGlobe
Communications Triumph Group

Ducommun
Ladish Company United Technologies

Elbit Systems
Lockheed Martin URS Corporation

Mantech International Vioscit

Mercury Computer Systems VSE Corporation

Note The identified
companies have been acquired or are in the final stages of being acquired For more information about the SPADE

Defense Index including it components and methodology visit www.spodeindexes.com
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TRADEMARKS CREDITS

TRADEMARKS PHOTOGRAPHY CREDITS IMAGE AND GRAPHIC DESIGN

ClipperCardSu is service mark DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE Christopher Fusilier

of the Metropolitan Transportation
Graphic Designer

Commission U.S AIR FORCE Heidi Heiser

Nextiare is trademark of Cubic Staff Sergeant Joseph Swafford
Senior Graphic Designer

Transportation Systems Inc
Cubic Corporation

Oyster the Oyster Card layout and U.S ARMY Cecelia Linayao

the Oyster card reader logo are Lance Corporal Austin Hazard
Senior Graphic Designer

registered trademarks belonging to
Cubic Defense Applications

Transport for London and are used with

permission

SPADE and the SPADE Defense

Index are registered trademarks of the

IS BC
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